Literature Ladder One



“I don't want realism. I want magic! Yes, yes, magic. I try to give that to people. I do misrepresent things. I don't tell truths. I tell what ought to be truth.”  Blanche DuBois 

Tennessee Williams


1. Please list five parallels between the autobiographic details of Tennessee Williams’ life [Found under Course Documents] and the play “A Streetcar Named Desire.” 

Biography of Tennessee Williams (1911-1983)




Tennessee Williams
Playwright, poet, and fiction writer, Tennessee Williams left a powerful mark on American theatre. At their best, his twenty-five full-length plays combined lyrical intensity, haunting loneliness, and hypnotic violence. He is widely considered the greatest Southern playwright and one of the greatest playwrights in the history of American drama. 




Born Thomas Lanier Williams on March 26, 1911, he suffered through a difficult and troubling childhood. His father, Cornelius Williams, was a shoe salesman and an emotionally absent parent. He became increasingly abusive as the Williams children grew older. His mother, Edwina, was the daughter of Southern Episcopal minister and had lived the adolescence and young womanhood of a spoiled Southern belle. Williams was sickly as a child, and his mother was a loving but smothering woman. In 1918 the family moved from Mississippi to St. Louis, and the change from a small provincial town to a big city was very difficult for William’s mother. Williams had an older sister named Rose and a younger brother named Walter. Rose was emotionally and mentally unstable, and her illnesses had a great influence on Thomas’s life and work. 
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Williams lived on the third floor of this apartment building in St. Louis

In 1929, Williams enrolled in the University of Missouri. After two years he dropped out of school, compelled to do so by his father, and took a job in the warehouse of the same shoe company for which his father worked. He was an employee there for ten months, despising the job but working at the warehouse throughout the day and writing late into the night. The strain was too much, and Williams had a nervous breakdown. He recovered at the home of his grandparents, and during these years he continued to write. Amateur productions of his early plays were put on in Memphis and St. Louis. During this time, Rose’s mental health continued to deteriorate. During a fight between Cornelius and Edwina, Cornelius made a move towards Rose that he claimed was meant to calm her. Rose thought his overtures were sexual and suffered a terrible breakdown. Her parents had her lobotomized shortly afterward. 

Williams went back to school and graduated from the University of Iowa in 1938. He then moved to New Orleans, where he changed his name to Tennessee. Having struggled with his sexuality all through his youth, he now fully entered gay life, with a new name, a new home, and promising talent. That same year, he won a prize for American Blues, a collection of one-act plays. In 1940, Battle of Angels (later rewritten as Orpheus Descending), his first full-length and professionally produced play, failed miserably. Tennessee Williams continued to struggle. 1944-1945 brought a great turning point in his life and career: The Glass Menagerie was produced in Chicago to great success, and shortly afterward was a smash hit on Broadway. While success freed Williams financially, it also made it difficult for him to write. He went to Mexico to work on a play originally titled The Poker Night. This play eventually became one of his masterpieces, A Streetcar Named Desire. It won Williams a Pulitzer Prize in 1947, which enabled him to travel and buy a home in Key West, a new base to which Williams could escape for both relaxation and writing. Around this time, Williams met Frank Merlo. The two fell in love, and the young man became Williams romantic partner until Merlo’s untimely death in 1961. He was a steadying influence on Williams, who suffered from depression and lived in fear that he, like his sister Rose, would go insane. 
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Frank Merlo

These years were some of Williams most productive. His plays were a great success in the United States and abroad, and he was able to write works that were well-received by critics and popular with audiences: The Rose Tattoo (1950), Cat on a Hot Tin Roof (1955), Night of the Iguana (1961), among many others. Cat on a Hot Tin Roof won Williams his second Pulitzer Prize. 
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He gave American theatergoers unforgettable characters, an incredible vision of life in the South, and a series of powerful portraits of the human condition. He was deeply interested in something he called "poetic realism," the use of everyday objects, which, seen repeatedly and in the right contexts, become imbued with symbolic meaning. His plays, for their time, also seemed preoccupied with the extremes of human brutality and sexual behavior: madness, rape, incest, nymphomania, as well as violent and fantastic deaths. Williams himself often commented on the violence in his own work, which to him seemed part of the human condition; he was conscious, also, of the violence in his plays being expressed in a particularly American setting. As with the work of Edward Albee, critics who attacked the "excesses" of Williams’ work often were making thinly veiled attacked on his sexuality. Homosexuality was not discussed openly at that time, but in Williams plays the themes of desire and isolation show, among other things, the influence of having grown up gay in a homophobic world. 

The sixties brought hard times for Tennessee Williams. He had become dependent on drugs, and the problem only grew worse after the death of Frank Merlo in 1961. Merlo’s death from lung cancer sent Williams into a deep depression that lasted ten years. Williams was also insecure about his work, which was sometimes of inconsistent quality, and he was violently jealous of younger playwrights.  

His sister Rose was in his thoughts during his later work. The later plays are not considered Williams best, including the failed “Clothes for a Summer Hotel.” Overwork and drug use continued to take their toll on him, and on February 23, 1983, Williams choked to death on the lid of one of his pill bottles. He left behind an impressive body of work, including plays that continue to be performed the world over. In his worst work, his writing is melodramatic and overwrought, but at his best Tennessee Williams is a haunting, lyrical, and powerful voice, one of the most important forces in twentieth-century American drama. 

From:  http://www.gradesaver.com/classicnotes/authors/about_tennessee_williams.html 
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2. Please cut and paste five passages from the biographical sketch regarding Tennessee’s sister and link them to seven passages spoken by or about Blanche in the play “A Streetcar Named Desire.”  Here is an example:
 Cornelius informed Rose that she must prepare herself for self-support, a terrifying prospect.

Pg. 27—“Which of them left us a fortune?  Which of them left a cent of insurance even?  . . . And I with my pitiful salary at the school.  Yes, accuse me!  

His sister—by Eve Berliner
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Rose, Rose, roses of his eyes. She was always there before him, a figure of such pathos from the beginning. They were two fragile children together taking refuge in each other's imagination and tenderness, Rose slowly retreating into dark corners, solitary and wordless, Tom gripped by his own tenuous frailties.

The brother finding sanctuary in his room writing strange and sorrowful poems and stories, so fearful inside, the urges he felt, the loneliness. 

His father, a violent, malignant alcoholic, would mock him and call him "Miss Nancy."

They were perfect companions in those early days in Columbus and Canton and Clarksdale, Mississippi, where they grew up in the magical intimacy of childhood. 
Thomas Lanier Williams born in the rectory of his grandfather's Episcopal Church in Columbus on March 26, 1911, his sister Rose two years his elder. 

They would race their bikes and cut paper dolls from huge catalogue books, laugh uproariously and invent wonderful new games, her wild imagination a joyous counterpart to his own.

She had a fragile unearthly prettiness to her, the long copperish curls that swung below her shoulders, sea green gray eyes, thin, delicate, immensely shy.

She was always in his writing. His first poem entitled, "Kinder Garden", age 3, dedicated to Rose; his comic strip, age 9, Rose the avenging heroine on the trail of the bad guys; his first published short story, "The Vengeance of Nitocris," about an Egyptian Pharaoh and his warrior sister..

By age 18, he was writing every day, a discipline he practiced to the end of his life.

* * *

He was to delve the recesses of memory with a short story written in June, 1943, which he called, "Portrait of a Girl in Glass," a deeply poignant reminiscence of his sister, the work of prose a prelude to his haunting memory play The Glass Menagerie, which followed two years later.

We are taken into the lost dream world inhabited by Rose and her collection of transparent glass animals, her fragile menagerie of colored glass that she softly held and polished and sang to in a faraway little voice, the small glass ornaments her magical kingdom that diffused into the colors of the rainbow in the sunlight.
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And she had her music to which she listened over and over, day after day, on the old 1920's victrola, the scratched aged recordings -- old-fashioned melodies such as "Whispering" and "The Love Nest" and "Dardanella" -- a token left behind by their absent father as souvenirs of his existence in their lives.

Her room was her cocoon, the haven to which she would retreat. But a harsh glimpse of life's cruelties awaited her there. For the two bedroom windows at the far end of the narrow room looked out upon a dead-end execution chamber, an alley of death where cornered alley cats stalked by a vicious neighborhood Chow met a jugular and bloody end trapped in the cul-de-sac from which they could not escape, the ghastly feline screams resounding in Rose's terrified ears, the fight to the death, until finally, she pulled down the shades to live thereafter in her own perpetual twilight.

Somehow as the years passed, she flew into some far world, his Rose, with her fragile unearthly beauty, to whom he was so attached, so joined. He would recapture her softly slipping away from him in a tender and moving short story written in October 1939, entitled, "The Resemblance Between a Violin Case and a Coffin," that once again penetrated the veil of memory.
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In the story, Rose, age 14, a promising student of the piano under the inspired tutelage of Miss Elise Aehle, developed an overpowering obsession with a 17-year-old violinist named Richard Miles with whom she was to perform a duet at an upcoming recital.

But as Rose was overcome by the mysterious stirrings of first love, her brother Tom was to discover the shock of his own sexual awakening. With pounding heart, he would obsessively spy on the two as they practiced at the piano, hidden in his room, peering through a crack of the door, flat on his belly, on the cold floor, knees and elbows aching, not daring to move, unknown to them.

"Richard was light and he was probably more beautiful than any boy I have ever seen," he would write. "I do not even remember if he was light in the sense of being blond or if the lightness came from a quality in him deeper than hair or skin....He wore a white shirt, and through its cloth could be seen the fair skin of his shoulder. And for the first time, prematurely, I was aware of skin as an attraction. A thing that might be desirable to touch. This awareness entered my mind, my senses, like the sudden streak of flame that follows a comet. And my undoing... was now completed.

"...The afternoons were consequently unsafe. I never knew when the front door might open on Richard's dreadful beauty and his greeting which I could not respond to, could not endure, must fly grotesquely away from."

"The transference of my interest to Richard now seemed complete. I would barely notice my sister at the piano."
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A shocking ambivalence of thought and sensation tortured him, "Yes Tom, you're a monster!" he would tell himself. "But that's how it is and there's nothing to be done about it. And so continued to feast my eyes on his beauty."

"The dreams perhaps went further, but I have already dwelt sufficiently upon the sudden triumph of unchastity back of my burning eyes; that needs no more annotation..."

In the end, the music recital was a fiasco, Rose in a state of frozen hysteria, unable to play, the duet close to collapse. 

The family moved to St. Louis shortly thereafter, and Richard Miles was to tragically die, a victim of pneumonia, within the year.

* * *

A panic had begun to set in about Rose. She was alone. With her hunched shoulders, and unutterable shyness and strange withdrawn behavior, her mother Edwina began to fear for her. For a young girl 23 years of age, she seemed somehow devoid of youth, in a state of nervous anxiety, an almost hysterical animation in the company of a male.

There were chances. 

There was the boy across the street in St. Louis, Roger Moore, brother of poet Virginia Moore, who took an interest in Rose, made an engagement to take her for a ride in his car. But just before her first date, he broke down from overwork and was taken to a sanitarium for a nervous breakdown. On the day he was to be released, he stepped in the path of an oncoming truck on the hospital grounds and was killed.
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There was the beau she loved and lost, a promising young fellow, a junior executive at International Shoe Company where her father worked -- [how Rose would tremble as she desperately waited for his calls] -- who quickly disappeared from her life after a scandalous and violent poker night brought her father to ignoble public attention.

As Tennessee was to recapture in his "Portrait of a Girl in Glass," -- and again with painful beauty in The Glass Menagerie -- his mother Edwina pleaded, cajoled and begged Tom to bring home a proper "gentleman caller" for his sister.

He chose an affable fellow named Jim O'Connor, a boy his sister had, in fact, had a huge adolescent crush on in high school.

Edwina's preparations were extreme, washing the windows and putting on the chintz covers, polishing the wedding silver and removing the monogrammed table linens from the drawer, Rose wearing a black chiffon ankle length dress that belonged to her mother, and high heel slippers. When the boy arrived, Rose refused to open the door and ran to her bedroom to hide.

The dinner awkward, Mother carrying the conversation. 

Afterward, Rose retreated to her old phonograph records in the living room. 

"Hey Slim, let's have a look at those old records," Jim uttered to Tom. And soon Rose and Jim were sitting on the floor together, laughing. 

"How about you and me cutting the rug a little?"Jim proclaimed.

And suddenly Rose was dancing with Jim, and he had freckles which she loved, and her music was playing, and he was so very kind.
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"She's light as a feather. With a little more practice she'd dance as good as Betty." said Jim.

"Betty?" said Mother.

"The girl I go out with!" said Jim. 

The gasp from Edwina, and silence from all. 

"Thinking of getting married the first of next month," he revealed.

Rose, in the end, slipped quietly back to her room and closed the door, her last desperate hope, crushed.

* *

The father, Cornelius Coffin Williams, was a traveling clothing salesman in the early years, absent without leave from the household most of the time, leading a life of drinking, gambling, and consorting with prostitutes. The family resided with their gentle maternal grandparents, The Rev. Walter Edwin Dakin and their grandmother, Rosina Otte Dakin, otherwise known as "Grand." 

In 1918, when Tennessee was seven, the father was appointed sales manager of the International Shoe Company, headquartered in St. Louis, Missouri, and the idyllic years of Tom's sweet childhood came to an abrupt end with the family's move to St. Louis and a crowded tenement existence far removed from the lyrical beauties of the old South. One year later, Tom's brother, Walter Dakin Williams was born.

Cornelius was a man who turned savage with liquor. Episodes of maniacal fury, violent assaults upon their mother, constant fighting, her nose broken in one terrifying occurrence in which she hit the door after he struck her. "I'm going to kill you," he shouted beating on the locked bathroom door where their mother, Edwina, had fled. "Come out of here. I'm going to kill you!" he screamed, all of this witnessed by the delicate Rose.

In one episode, Cornelius slapped Rose across the face when she dared to mildly defy him.

Severe pains in her stomach, mysterious gastro-intestinal ills which landed her in the hospital, Rose increasingly withdrawn and angry. 

She was placed under psychiatric care. A short stay in a private sanitarium was recommended.
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* * *

The Williams marriage a study in contradiction, the coarse and the delicate, the brute and the genteel lady, Edwina Dakin Williams, a Southern belle in true essence, with dainty white handkerchiefs and strict Victorian admonitions -- little Rose prohibited from crouching on the ground while she played with her ball and jacks -- morbid prudery, intense sexual aversions, piercing screams echoing through the house when her husband engaged her in the sexual act, sending the terrified children flying into the streets to take sanctuary at a neighbor's house.

Cornelius was drinking heavily hiding his whiskey bottles under the bathtub and in the sunroom and under the bed in alcoholic frenzy. 

There was a shocking episode of gonorrhea acquired from a prostitute at a sex party and then the scandalous poker fight at an all-night poker party at the Hotel Jefferson in which half his ear was bitten off, necessitating the removal of cartilage from his rib to build a new ear, and leaving him with a cauliflower-like protuberance. 
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The International Shoe Company, disgraced by his conduct, instead of moving him into a top executive position on the Board as planned, now wanted him out -- and rather than fire him outright, gave him the option to resign gracefully.

It was at this juncture, his job hanging precariously in the balance, that Cornelius informed Rose that she must prepare herself for self-support, a terrifying prospect.

There had already been an abortive attempt to enroll Rose in a local business college but she was not able to memorize the typewriter keyboard, staring for infinite hours at the typewriter chart in the kitchen.

"Quiet," his mother would caution Tom. "Sister is looking at the typewriter chart."
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Finally, she seemed to master its content -- until the weekly speed drill at the school froze her mind and her fingers! 

In the end, she secretly stopped attending classes, leaving the house each morning as per her usual schedule, and spending her hours at the museum, the park and the movie theatre until her mother called the school to check on her progress and was informed that Rose had all but disappeared.

"Somehow or other -- precisely I don't recall," Tennessee wrote in his "Memoirs," 
"she did obtain employment as a receptionist at the office of some young dentists. The job lasted only one day and ended upon the most pathetic note. She had been unable to address envelopes properly, the young dentist had discharged her and she had fled weeping into the lavatory and locked herself in.

"They called us at home and we had to go to the office to persuade her to leave her place of retreat."

Thus ended her business career.

* * *

The story of Tom's "season in hell" began with graduation from high school and his acceptance to the University of Missouri where he became so totally consumed by his writing, to the exclusion of his studies, that his final freshman grades were very poor indeed.

His father angrily and summarily pulled him out of the school and forced him into hard labor at the International Shoe Company where he was sales manager. It was a radical adjustment for a poet who now had a job in a warehouse.
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He was hired to deliver heavy sample cases and run errands "in the world's largest shoe company," and to type enormous piles of factory orders, almost exclusively numerals, digits. "I was a miracle of incompetence."

When he could, he would surreptitiously retreat to a flight of stairs that led to the roof of the 12 story building looking out over the Mississippi River and dream "so I used to linger up there for longer than a cigarette to reflect upon a poem or short story that I would finish that weekend."

He would stay up deep into the night writing and arrive at the shoe company in a state of exhaustion until the grueling schedule took its toll. Two days before his 24th birthday, March 24, 1935, Tom and his sister Rose were returning from a movie when his heartbeat suddenly increased precipitously, he broke into a heavy sweat, short of breath, his legs numb. He immediately thought he was dying of a stroke or heart attack! They hailed a passing taxicab and headed for St. Luke's Episcopal Hospital, where he was admitted.

It was a fierce anxiety attack. The doctors declared it acute emotional distress.

One month later, he submitted his resignation to the International Shoe Company and was released from bondage -- although he did contend in his fictionalized memory play, The Glass Menagerie, that he was fired for writing a poem on the back of a shoebox.

* *

"I failed to properly observe the shadow falling on Rose," Tennessee would write with poignant regret in his memoirs. "She was now very quiet in the house and I think she was suffering from insomnia. She had the peculiar habit of setting a pitcher of ice water outside her door each night when she retired." 

One afternoon she came to him and whispered, "We must all die together," as she placed a kitchen knife in her purse and started to leave for her psychiatrist's office. 

It was the her first real breakdown.

There were stays at the Catholic sanitarium on the outskirts of St. Louis and other private sanitariums during the mid-thirties, as her mental torments escalated into wild hallucination, fits of rage, and graphic sexual fantasies.

By 1937, the psychiatrists at Barnes Hospital diagnosed her condition as "Dementia Praecox." -- [ what is now known as schizophrenia] -- and at age 28, her mind wracked by delusion and fear, urged that Rose be sent to the State Asylum at Farmington, a snake-pit.

"The last time she went," Edwina wrote in a letter to her mother, "the doctor told her that what was the matter with her was that 'she needed to get married.' She has been raving on the subject of 'sex' ever since and I was ashamed for Dakin and Tom to hear her the other night."

"The old family doctor, Dr. Alexander, suggested a kind of therapeutic marriage," Tennessee would recall. "Obviously Doc Alexander had hit upon the true seat of Rose's afflictions. She was a very normal -- but highly sexed -- girl who was tearing herself apart mentally and physically by these repressions imposed upon her by Miss Edwina's monolithic Puritanism."

During the summer of 1937, Rose went in and out of the state asylum at Farmington several times. During one of her visits home, she witnessed an inebriated attack by Cornelius on Edwina in which he beat her viciously. Rose went out of control and in Cornelius' attempt to subdue her, she charged that he touched her in a sexually intimate way and went off the deep end in a hysteria that went on for days.

The final stunning accusation came shortly before her last institutionalization at the state asylum in 1937. Edwina returned home one evening to find Rose in a state of frenzied hysterics, ranting accusations that her father had drunkenly entered her bedroom and made lewd overtures to her, insisting crudely that she go to bed with him.

The blood ran out of Edwina's face. 

Two agitated days later, unable to calm her hysteria, they re-hospitalized her at Farmington State Asylum. The possibility of truth was too great to bear.

Rose now had delusions of being poisoned and murdered. 

By autumn 1937, one of the resident psychiatrists on her case told Cornelius that Rose's illness was so advanced that she was capable of extreme violence. "Rose is liable to go down and get a butcher knife one night and cut your throat," he told her alarmed father.

She was consumed by sexual fantasy.

When Tom and Edwina went to visit her at the State Asylum in Farmington, Rose took perverse pleasure in deliberately horrifying her puritanical mother:

"Mother, you know we girls at All Saints College, we used to abuse ourselves with altar candles we stole from the chapel," she laughed.

"And mother screamed like a peacock!," said Tennessee. "She rushed to the head doctor and she said, "Do anything, anything to shut her up!"

* * *

He never forgave his mother for it.

The drastic decision was made without his knowledge, while he was away at school in Iowa City attending the University of Iowa. He was not informed until the deed was a fait accompli.

At the beautiful age of 28, a prefrontal lobotomy of the brain, was performed on Rose Isabel Williams, one of the first such psychosurgeries ever to be performed in the United States.
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It was a crude, experimental procedure that came to be known as the "Ice Pick Lobotomy" in which the white fibers that connect the thalmus to the prefrontal and frontal lobes of the brain are severed. Developed in 1937, the Freeman Watts Standard Lobotomy, a "precision operation" in which the brain was approached from the lateral surface of the skull, holes were drilled on both sides of the cranium, a six inch cunnula heavy-guage tubing was inserted 2.5 inches into the brain, "and, if no fluid oozed out...it was lowered to the bony...ridge at the base of the skull. The cannula was then withdrawn, and a blunt spatula -- much like a calibrated butter knife -- was inserted about 2 inches into the track left by the brain. After the spatula was inserted, its handle was swung upward so that the blade could be drawn along the base of the skull, and a cut was made as far to the side as possible. The spatula was then withdrawn, and the site was rinsed. That was only the first of four quadrants to be cut." - Eliot S. Valenstein, Great and Desperate Cures, 1986.

It was a blind technique with bits of blood vessel and brain tissue torn away in the assault.

It was performed at no cost to the family at the Missouri State Sanitarium.

"She gave permission to have it done while I was away." 

Although Miss Edwina contended in her memoir, "Remember Me to Tom," that her husband made the final decision, only she had the legal authority. 

"She gave permission to have it done while I was away. I think she was frightened by Rose's sexual fantasies. But that's all they were -- fantasies!...She is the one who approved the lobotomy."

"My mother panicked because she said my sister had begun using four letter words. 'Do anything. Don't let her talk like that!"

"Mother chose to have Rose's lobotomy. My father didn't want it. In fact, he cried. It's the only time I saw him cry. He was in a state of sorrow when he learned that the operation had been performed." 

"Cornelius never visited Rose after her lobotomy," wrote Edwina. "To him, it was as though she disappeared from the earth.

"I think Tom always felt as though he failed Rose, that had he been on hand when the big decision was made, he might have been able to stop the lobotomy...I think his was a grief beyond words." 

* * *

Post Lobotomy Medical Evaluation, August 14, 1939:

Rose Medical Report, under the signatures of Kuhlman/Whitten:

"Does no work. Manifests delusions of persecution. Smiles and laughs when telling of person plotting to kill her. Talk free and irrelevant. Admits auditory hallucinations. Quiet on the ward. Masturbates frequently. Also expresses various somatic delusions, all of which she explains on a sexual basis. Memory for remote past is nil."

Tennessee's private journal reflects his own tortured post-lobotomy visit to see his sister Rose, accompanying his mother to the Sanitarium, in December 1939. "Visited Rose at Sanitarium -- horrible, horrible! Her talk was so obscene -- she laughed and talked continual obscenities. Mother insisted I go in, though I dreaded it and wanted to go out, stay outside. We talked to the doctor afterwards, a cold unsympathetic man -- he said her condition was hopeless, that we only expect a progressive deterioration. It was a horrible ordeal. Especially since I fear that end for myself."

* * *

The connection to Rose went so deep, the abyss of guilt, the heartbreak, the terrible pity he could not speak.

No matter what road Tennessee travelled in his nomadic restless existence, Rose was dear to him as no other. Frail and haunted, a creature out of another time, childlike and delicate to the extreme, like a butterfly, like the frailest flower with her lost gray green eyes and soft little face and crooked little smile.

He treated her with the greatest dignity and tenderness.

He would take her to the Oak Room of the Plaza Hotel for lunch when he came to New York and lavish upon her beautiful dresses which he bought for her at Bloomingdale's and the finest boutiques of Madison Avenue, as she had so loved clothes as a young girl, loved their colors, their magic. And then he would return her by limousine to Stoney Lodge, the sanitarium where she resided in Ossining New York, on a bluff overlooking the upper Hudson River, the grounds beautifully landscaped.

He would take her on brief visits to Key West, where she was overcome by invisible attacks of "crime-beasts."

And she would write him childlish haunted little mad sad letters:, this note with a sweet little blue flower on the cover, found in his Key West residence after his death, written in 1949, when she was 40 years of age:

Dearest Brother:

Your distressed relative is pleased with the beautiful blouse. I love it! Received it this morning. Will implant it when I am clean, immaculate. I long to exhist [sic], wear it, to receive a dark brown skirt to implant it upon.

I miss you. Am sorry that I couldn't bestow a present upon you that isn't my love. I am implanting a stitch on a dish towel that I can allot to you. It is a brilliant trajic [sic] one that I love, hope to bestow upon you.

My blue dress which I received for Yuletide fits, is becoming! I am pleased with it, with the candy, cake, work basket, cookies. I do enjoy rich, flesh making delicacies.

I need some new gowns.

Come and see me soon. I love you.

Rose

She existed in a warp of time as a debutante of the old South, forever 28 years of age, feminine to excess, a faded belle out of some mad dream.

Placid now, becalmed, the savage act took the spark of her personality.

She lived in her own little world inside her private cottage at Ossining, her luxurious care paid for by her brother, Tennessee. And she passed her hours playing in the sunlight with the children of Stoney Lodge, her young institutionalized playmates, in her own timeless reverie.

She thought she was the Queen of England. 

"She was the best of us, do you understand?" he wept to a friend.

And as he wrote in the final moving words of his "Memoir": 

"You couldn't ask for a sweeter or more benign monarch than Rose, or, in my opinion, one that's more of a lady. After all, high station in life is earned by the gallantry with which appalling experiences are survived with grace." 
From:  http://www.evesmag.com/tennessee.htm
National Public Radio-Streetcar  
3.  Browse the website above and listen to Debbie Elliott’s report (you can download Real Player for free at this link: RealPlayer then answer the following questions:
· Why does Tennessee Williams think of New Orleans as his “spiritual home?”

· In early versions of the script, what other two cities did the story potentially take place in?

· In what way is “Streetcar” a “standard” story?

· Who do some scholars suggest that the character of Stanley was inspired by?

· How is Blanche like Tennessee according to his brother?

II:
The Play

"There are no 'good' or 'bad' people. Some are a little better or a little worse but all are activated more by misunderstanding than malice…a  blindness to what is going on in each other's hearts. Stanley sees Blanche not as a desperate, driven creature backed into a last corner to make a last desperate stand - but as a calculating bitch with 'round heels'.... Nobody sees anybody truly but all through the flaws of their own egos. That is the way we all see each other in life." (Tennessee Williams in Elia Kazan's autobiography A Life, 1988) 

3.  Class Assignment:  Is Blanche Desperate and Drive or a Bitch?  (See Discussion Board or Blog site).  Post at least four times and respond to at least five postings from other members.  To post, click “Add new thread” and then type in your comment.  Try to check this forum at least three times a week; it only takes a minute. 

4. Answer the following questions based on your readings of the play and the analysis of the scenes. 
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1. Describe the setting of the play.  What does the house where the play is set look like?  What does the Kowalski apartment look like?  As you are introduced to each of the major characters in the first three scenes, how does the setting help you to understand them and their situations more?
2. Describe Blanche. What is her personality like?  Why is she described as being moth-like(15)?  How is she like and unlike her sister Stella in, for instance, the issues of appearance and class difference?  How would you describe their relationship?  What does Belle Reve (17; 25-26) represent to each sister?
3. How does Stanley Kowalski differ from Blanche?  How does their response to each other change throughout the play?  How does Stella deal with the opposition between her sister and her husband early on and then later in the play?  
4. Describe the relationship between Stanley and Stella.  Since Blanche and Stella are sisters and share the same background, why do you think one sister is so attracted to Stanley and the other so repulsed by him?  
5. What does Blanche want/need from Mitch?  Does Mitch want/need Blanche for the same or different reasons?  Do they ever love each other?




6. How would you describe the relationship between Steve and Eunice? Does their marriage provide a different view of love in the play?
7. The play includes many stage directions referring to music.  Select two scenes and discuss the significance of the music and how it is symbolic.  How does the music in the scenes that you’ve chosen help to reveal the characters? 

8. How do Blanche’s references to Shep Huntleigh provide a good example of what Blanche says about fibbing and illusions?  What does Shep represent to her?
9. Can you interpret the dynamics of Blanche's encounter with the newspaper boy? Why does Blanche flirt with him? 

10. In scene six Blanche explains her relationship with her husband. What does she unexpectedly learn about him? How does she respond to this? What does her husband do? How does Blanche respond to his death?



11. Do you see any significance in the brief discussion of astrological signs on pages 76-77? 

12. In scene six Blanche describes her experience with love in terms of light imagery. Yet scene six takes place mostly in the dark or in candlelight. Why? Why does Blanche prefer dim light? 
.  
13. At the beginning of scene seven Blanche is once again taking a hot bath, though it's hot outside.  Why does she bathe so often and for such long periods of time?  How does Stanley feel about Blanche's baths?  

14. Stanley has found out the "truth" about Blanche.  According to Stanley, what is that truth?  What are the two lies that he refutes?  He mentions the Flamingo Hotel.   Why does Blanche in scene nine call it the "Tarantula Arms"?  Why has Blanche lost her teaching job?  What are Stanley's motives for telling Mitch about Blanche's lies? 
15. While Stanley is talking to Stella about Blanche, Blanche is in the bathroom and the audience can hear her singing. What is the significance of her song?  Is it, too, a description of Blanche?  Does it present one side of Blanche that Stanley (and Mitch) cannot understand? 



16. Why did Blanche have so many "intimacies with strangers" (118)? 
17. What does Stanley mean when he asks Blanche, "Shall we bury the hatchet and make it a loving-cup" (125)? Why does Blanche say no? Why has Blanche gone mad?  
18. Scene eleven begins with another poker game. This time Stanley is winning and Mitch is losing. Is this significant? Does the card game also have possible symbolic meaning? Describe how the relationship between Stanley and Mitch has changed. 
19. How does Blanche initially respond to the Doctor and the Matron? Why does she later offer her hands to the Doctor? What does Blanche mean when she says, "Whoever you are, I have always depended on the kindness of strangers"?  Describe the relationship between Stanley and Stella at the end of the play, after Blanche has left. 
20. What do you think is the symbolic meaning of the Mexican woman selling flowers for the dead in scene nine? 
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From:  http://faculty.pittstate.edu/~knichols/dramabm3.html#williams



5. Agree or disagree with four insights from the interview in this website.
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	FIFTY YEARS OF "DESIRE"
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	Tennessee Williams' acclaimed drama is 50 years old this fall. The play has been produced more than twenty thousand times since it opened on Broadway in 1947. The latest production is at San Francisco's American Conservatory Theater. After a background report, Elizabeth Farnsworth talks to the director and a Williams biographer about the enduring nature of the play and the playwright. 
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	Nov. 11, 1997:
A background report on A Streetcar Named Desire.

Browse the NewsHour's coverage of arts and entertainment.
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ELIZABETH FARNSWORTH: For more on Tennessee Williams we turn now to Lyle Leverich, who's the author of Tom: The Unknown Tennessee Williams, and to Richard Seyd, who directed the American Conservatory Theater production of "Streetcar Named Desire." Thank you both for being with us. Mr. Seyd, how do you explain the enduring appeal of this play? 
	

	
	A revolutionary topic: the psychology of working class characters.

	
	RICHARD SEYD, Director: I think it has to do with both the subject matter and the theatrical style of the play, which at the time was very revolutionary, and in many ways the episodic structure of the play. But also I think it's really interesting that it was one of the first times I think in the American theater, that working class figures were put on the stage within a very strong psychological context, but so much of the time through the 30's where the working class of this culture began to appear on the American stage it was much more on the social context; it was much more in Clifford O'Dette's plays, for examples, and I think the figure of Stanley, the figure of Mitch also actually--Steve, Eunice, all of these figures, from this working class culture in New Orleans--I think it was surprising to the American public to see these figures so respected by the writer. 
ELIZABETH FARNSWORTH: These guys that had have just come back from the war, right? 

RICHARD SEYD: Yes. Just come back from the war. So they were both younger. So much of the play also--so many of the characters are younger, inexperienced because the war pulled them out of their natural evolution in their 20's and at the same time because of the war they're older in their experience in certain regards too.  I mean, the tragedy emerged. He has dealt with death for probably the last 10 years of his life--the strange girl he lost, the war, and when he comes back, his mother is dying, which, of course, is one of the things that bring him and Blanche together.  
	

	
	No moral message, no convenient resolution.

	
	ELIZABETH FARNSWORTH: It's interesting. The play doesn't really have a moral or a message, wouldn't you say--would you say that? It's not like the plays of the 30's, for example. 
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LYLE LEVERICH, Author: No, no. There's no convenient resolution, and, of course, all of the plays of the 30's and many in the 40's too, for that matter, have struggled with the need to resolve the plot and so forth. And Tennessee felt that the enigma--that people were enigmatic--and that particularly in "Streetcar" he didn't want--in fact, he was very careful to say that he did not want to side with one or the other character; he simply wanted to show which was his main point--the breakdown of communication. To him, the lack of communication in our society between people on every level is part of our tragedy as a race of people, you know; we don't communicate. So there are these different levels of meanings, yes. 

ELIZABETH FARNSWORTH: What other levels would you add, Mr. Seyd?
	

	
	"Nothing human disgusts me unless it is unkind or violent."

	
	RICHARD SEYD: One of the credos that I used for my interpretation of the play was in "Night of the Iguana" Hannah recounts a love experience in which a strange man asked for her to be able to take off her underwear so that he could touch it. And she's explaining this, and she says in it, "Nothing human disgusts me unless it is unkind or violent." And I sort of--because when I started to do "Streetcar" I read a lot of his other plays--particularly the major works--and I just found that line, and I just went that sounds like Tennessee to me because I just finished reading Tom, which was extremely helpful to me. And that I think is also one of the major themes. Blanche arrives and if only she had been given a higher level of kindness, I think there would have been a very different reality that she confronts at the end of the play.
	

	 
	The greatest American play?
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ELIZABETH FARNSWORTH: Where would you place this work in American theater? Some people say this is the greatest American play. Where would you put it? 

RICHARD SEYD: That's a hard question. 

ELIZABETH FARNSWORTH: I'm sorry to put you on the spot. 
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RICHARD SEYD: It's fine. I don't--I just don't like to compare one play with another, particularly when I'm sort of inside it myself. All I can tell you is I think it's a flawless piece of writing. I think it is certainly up there with the top two or three American plays of the 20th century without any question. And my respect for Tennessee as a writer and my respect for him as a theatrical craftsman has increased exponentially during the process of working on this. 

ELIZABETH FARNSWORTH: In what way? 

RICHARD SEYD: It's exposition more than anything else. I've never come across a writer, with the possible exception of Chekhov, who weaves exposition into the psychological reality of the characters so that it is completely effortless. You never feel you're being set up for the story. You suddenly find as an audience, you suddenly find yourself in the story.  And unless you're a writer or worked a lot with writers and understand what a difficult craft theatrical writing is--I mean, generally I think writing for the theater is probably the most difficult form of writing there is. And it's only when you meet a master that you really go, oh , my God, this is incredible, what he pulled off.
	

	 
	The catastrophe of celebrity: Tennessee Williams' struggle.

	 
	ELIZABETH FARNSWORTH: And what about his view that success was a catastrophe? Here he is--he was a tremendous success with this play and others, and yet he thought it was terrible for him, why? 

LYLE LEVERICH: Well, it was. Elizabeth, he was not prepared for a success like that. He was--too young a man in the first place--unsophisticated, and he--all he really wanted out of life was to be able to write when he wanted to write, where he wanted to write, and what he wanted to write. And so he was always in literal flight, trying to find a corner of the universe where he could do this. 

ELIZABETH FARNSWORTH: The success took away his privacy, which is what he needed to--to work, or he thought he needed that. 
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LYLE LEVERICH: It was difficult. And there were people who would like to take possession of him. I mean, he had this quality of vulnerability about him. I mean, you know, you had someone to put on his coat--help him get dressed properly. He didn't ever have matching socks  and things of this sort. He--he--you know, I went to a very close friend of his and I said, look, I went into the St. Francis Hotel one day and they had the sign out front which said, "Do not Disturb," and when I opened the door, or when he opened the door--and I walked in and I could understand why no self-respecting chamber maid would go in the place. He had script all over the place--and I asked this friend about this, and he said, well, that was artist order.  But the outside world and all of its trials and tribulations, which drive us all crazy, you know, from day to day, I think to catch up on the details--he just ignored them, and let somebody else worry about them.  
[image: image48.png]


RICHARD SEYD: I think it's an increasing problem too because celebrity, I mean, in many cases he had to flee the country, and the country was the source of his artistry, the culture in which he grew up was the source, and I think it's the hardest thing about being an artist and a celebrity is that you lose your connection to the source because people are watching you,  rather than you being able to watch people, and it's true for an actor, and in Tennessee's case, as Lyle said, it's also true for him as a writer. 

ELIZABETH FARNSWORTH: Well, thank you both very much for being with us.
	


  From:  http://www.pbs.org/newshour/bb/entertainment/july-dec97/streetcar_11-11.html
For instance, do you agree or disagree that there is no “moral or message” inherent in the play?
III:
The Movie
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6. Click on the links for Marlon Brando and for Vivien Leigh.  Click “enter” when you go to the site and read about both actors.  List at least seven similarities you find in the biographical information for each of these two actors and the roles that they played in the movie. 
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Marlon Brando
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 Leigh  

7. Read the review of the movie by Tim Dirks after you watch it.  Highlight for yourselves character insights about Stella, Blanche, or Stanley.  Your assignment is to write a two-three page double-spaced informal essay comparing and contrasting one of these characters in the play version versus the film version.  Consider ideas such as is this how you pictured the character when you read the play?  Why or why not?  Is anything left out of or added into the portrayal of the character in the film?  Is either the film or the play more or less empathetic towards the character?  Are particularly significant speeches different as they come across in the movie? 

	A Streetcar Named [image: image50.png]


Desire (1951) 
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A Streetcar Named Desire (1951) is a subversive, steamy film classic that was adapted from Tennessee Williams' 1947 Pulitzer Prize-winning play (his first) of the same name. [Early working titles for the play included The Moth, Blanche's Chair on the Moon, and The Poker Night.] Playwright Williams adapted his own play for the screen version. This film masterpiece was directed by independent director Elia Kazan (his first piece of work with Williams), a socially-conscious director who insisted that the film be true to the play (that he had also directed on Broadway). However, it was opened up to include places only briefly mentioned or non-existent in the play, such as the bowling alley, the pier of a dance casino, and the machine factory.

The electrifying film tells the feverish story of the pathetic mental and emotional demise of a determined, yet fragile, repressed and delicate Southern lady (Blanche) born to a once-wealthy family of Mississippi planters. Her impoverished, tragic downfall in the squalid, cramped and tawdry French Quarter one-bedroom apartment of her married sister (Stella) and animalistic brother-in-law (Stanley) is at the hands of savage, brutal forces in modern society. In her search for refuge, she finds that her sister lives (approvingly) with drunkenness, violence, lust, and ignorance.

The visceral film, considered controversial, decadent, and "morally repugnant" challenged the regulatory Production Code's censors (and the Legion of Decency) with its bold adult drama and sexual subjects (insanity, rape, domestic violence, homosexuality, sexual obsession, and female promiscuity or nymphomania). Ultimately, it signaled the weakening of Hollywood censorship (and groups such as the Catholic Legion of Decency), although a number of scenes were excised, and new dialogue was written. And the Production Code insisted that Stanley be punished for the rape by the loss of his wife's love at the film's conclusion. In 1993, approximately three to five minutes of the censored scenes (i.e., specific references to Blanche's homosexual - or bisexual young husband, her nymphomania, and Stanley's rape of Blanche) were restored in an 'original director's version' video re-release. 

The three main character roles in the ensemble were played with remarkably triumphant performances, all from various stage play casts. One film poster provided a partial film synopsis and description of characters: 

...When she got there, she met the brute Stan, and the side of New Orleans she hardly knew existed...Blanche, who wanted so much to stay a lady.

· 27 year-old Marlon Brando, in his second screen role (after his first appearance in Fred Zinnemann's The Men (1950)) and recreating his 1947 Broadway role (it premiered on December 3, 1947), delivered an overpowering, memorable, and raw naturalistic performance (an example of Method acting that he learned at the Actors Studio in New York under Stella Adler) as a sexually-powerful, animalistic, brooding primal brute - Stanley Kowalski, Blanche's brother-in-law [The role was first offered to John Garfield, who rejected it because he felt the role was inferior to the female lead role.]

· Unstable, delusional, and vulnerable Southern belle heroine (and former English teacher) Blanche, sensitively portrayed by Vivien Leigh, who recreated her role from the London production of the play (directed by then-husband Laurence Olivier). [Vivien Leigh's character was a logical extension from her Scarlett O'Hara role in Gone With The Wind (1939) - a post-Rhett Butler Southern belle exhibiting a patrician facade. She was also beginning to show signs of her own emerging manic-depressive, bipolar illness in playing the part, and only appeared in three more films: The Deep Blue Sea (1955), The Roman Spring of Mrs. Stone (1961), and Ship of Fools (1965). In the Broadway stage production, Jessica Tandy played the role of Blanche. The role was first offered to Olivia de Havilland.] 

· Kim Hunter as Blanche's younger sister Stella (a role she originally played on Broadway) and Stanley's wife - a pivotal role

The controversial film was nominated for a phenomenal twelve nominations and awarded four Oscars (an unprecedented three were in the acting categories): Best Actress for Vivien Leigh (her second Best Actress Oscar), and Best Supporting Awards to Kim Hunter and Karl Malden. This was the first time in Academy history that three acting awards were won by a single film (this feat was later repeated by Network (1976)). In addition, the Best B/W Art Direction/Set Decoration was given to Richard Day and George James Hopkins for their naturalistically sordid sets. Remarkably, these other eight nominations were all defeated: 

· Tennessee Williams' Best Screenplay nomination 

· Marlon Brando's Best Actor nomination (his first of four consecutive Best Actor nominations, for Viva Zapata! (1952), Julius Caesar (1953), and On The Waterfront (1954) - the last mentioned film won Brando his first Oscar) 

· Elia Kazan's Best Director nomination 

· Harry Stradling's evocative Best B/W Cinematography nomination 

· Alex North's Best Score nomination for the ultra-sultry, steamy score 

· Nathan Levinson's Best Sound Recording nomination 

· Lucinda Ballard's Best B/W Costume Design nomination 

· and its Best Picture nomination 

The hotly-contested, competitive year saw the Best Picture Award presented instead to Vincente Minnelli's musical An American in Paris (1951). [It was only the third musical in Academy Award history to win the top honor.] Humphrey Bogart in The African Queen (1951) took the Best Actor Award away from Marlon Brando (it was Bogart's sole career Oscar). And George Stevens was awarded Best Director for his work on A Place in the Sun (1951). 

Two made-for-TV movies have been made of the famous play: a 1984 version with Ann-Margret (as Blanche), Treat Williams (as Stanley), Beverly D'Angelo (as Stella), and Randy Quaid (as Mitch), and in 1995 with Alec Baldwin and Jessica Lange (both recreating their 1992 stage roles), and also with Diane Lane (as Stella) and John Goodman (as Mitch). 



Set in New Orleans in the years immediately following World War II, the film opens with the arrival of a train and a pretentious southern belle Blanche DuBois (Vivien Leigh) - she has taken the train to the city. As a joyous wedding party runs by in the station, Blanche appears like an apparition or angel out of a cloud of steam emitted by the train engine, as she carries her battered suitcase. Blanche is frail and in a neurotic emotional state, a faded-beauty with ragged, bleached hair and superficial, genteel Southern propriety. In her very first lines, she expresses her delusionary confusion to a young sailor, mentioning three streetcar stops that symbolize her desperate situation. She has come as a result of her sordid 'desires' to the last stop available to her: 

They told me to take a streetcar named Desire, and then transfer to one called Cemeteries and ride six blocks and get off at Elysian Fields.

The Desire Line streetcar (named Desire after Desire Street) [the symbolic assumption is that Blanche has already indulged in 'Desire' before her arrival] takes her to her sister Stella DuBois Kowalski's (Kim Hunter) apartment in New Orleans' French Quarter. There at Elysian Fields [symbolizing paradise beyond death from ancient lore] where she has come for a visit, she is surprised at the downstairs living accommodations of her sister, a small, shabby two-room tenement in a run-down neighborhood: "Can this be her home?" She finds her sister at the local bowling alley where her brother-in-law Stanley is bowling. After hugging each other, Blanche worries about her appearance: "Oh no, no, no. I won't be looked at in this merciless glare," and is concerned about where her sister lives in a derelict area: "Only Poe. Only Mr. Edgar Allan Poe could do justice to it. What are you doing in that horrible place?" 

Stella has turned her back on her aristocratic background, and found happiness by marrying a working class, Polish immigrant husband Stanley Kowalski (Marlon Brando). Blanche's first glimpse of the loud, coarse, and brutish Stanley is on the bowling lanes. A fight erupts - and Stanley is in the middle of a rough and tumble controversy with some of the other players - but Stella admires him: "Oh, isn't he wonderful looking?" 

While sipping on a cold drink (Blanche's preferred drink is scotch, not soda 'pop') in one of the alley's booths, Blanche tells her sister why she had to leave her poorly-paid, high-school English teaching position in Laurel, Mississippi before the spring term ended - she took "a leave of absence" due to nervous exhaustion. Holding on to reality and her struggles in life in an unreal world of her imagination, she just had to leave for a while, finding nowhere else to go but to her sister's for protection. She suffers from delusions regarding her past, her true age, and the reason for her sudden appearance. She directs the lights away from her face, lamenting: "Daylight never exposed so total a ruin." 

Back at the cramped, two-room apartment with dirty, peeling wallpaper, Blanche expresses her need for human contact to find solace: "I'm not going to put up in a hotel. I've got to be near you, Stella. I've got to be with people. I can't be alone..." She is also nervous about Stella's raunchy husband, as her main intention is to win back Stella's devotion to her and her in-bred Southern aristocratic attitudes: 

Blanche: Will Stanley like me or, or will I just be a visiting in-law? I couldn't stand that Stella! (She looks at a picture on the dresser of Stanley in his military uniform.)
Stella: You'll get along fine together. You just try not to compare...
Blanche: (interrupting) Oh, he was an officer?
Stella: He was a Master Sergeant in the Engineers Corp. (proudly) Decorated four times.
Blanche: He had those on when you met him?
Stella: Surely I wasn't blinded by all the brass...Of course, there, there were things to adjust myself to later on. 
Blanche: Such as his, uh, civilian background. How did he take it when you said I was coming?
Stella: Oh, he's on the road a good deal. 
Blanche: Oh, he travels?
Stella: Umm, mmm.
Blanche: Good.

A returning World War II veteran, Stanley was decorated for his service but now his job takes him on the road a good deal. Judging everything by the standards of Old Southern gentility, Blanche finds Stella's love for Stanley severely lacking and somewhat incomprehensible. 

Seeking to minimize her sister's "reproach," Blanche quickly explains how she tried to preserve everything by sticking to their home, Belle Reve, and how she struggled to salvage what she could: 

...take into consideration you left. I stayed and struggled. You came to New Orleans and looked out for yourself. I stayed at Belle Reve and tried to hold it together. Oh, I'm not meaning this in any reproachful way. But all the burdens descended on my shoulders...You were the one that abandoned Belle Reve, not I. I stayed and fought for it, bled for it, almost died for it.

Blanche rationalizes about "the loss" - the fate of their old family estate, a beautiful dream mansion named Belle Reve ('Beautiful Dream'), the aristocratic DuBois homestead in Laurel, Mississippi. Blanche had been left to care for the family holdings, but soon lost her home, her job, and her respect. Due to the family squandering its fortune, it was lost to creditors. Family deaths had also left her alone and penniless, while Stella was in bed with her husband: 

I, I, I took the blows in my face and my body. All of those deaths. The long parade to the graveyard. Father, mother...You just came home in time for funerals Stella, and funerals are pretty compared to deaths. How did you think all that sickness and dying was paid for? Death is expensive, Miss Stella. And I, on my pitiful salary at the school. Yes, accuse me! Stand there and stare at me, thinking I let the place go. I let the place go! Where were you? In there with your Pollack!

When Blanche first meets the brawny Stanley, he has just returned home from bowling. They stare at each other for a short while, and then she introduces herself: "You must be Stanley. I'm Blanche." He offers her a drink, but she declines by explaining she rarely touches it. He comments: 

Well, there are some people that rarely touch it, but it touches them often.

Animalistic and exhibitionistic, he removes his hot, sweat-soaked, smelly and sticky T-shirt in front of her, and changes into a clean one to "make myself comfortable." [Brando, beginning with his Broadway performance, popularized the T-shirt to be worn as a sexy, stand-alone, outer-wear garment. Originally, it was issued by the U.S. Navy (as early as 1913) as a crew-necked, short-sleeved, white cotton undershirt to be worn under a uniform.] She covertly sneaks a peek at his massive, muscular biceps and torso after he states his motto: "Be comfortable. That's my motto up where I come from." While they size each other up, he asks if she is planning to stay for a while: "You gonna shack up here?" And then he senses her distance from him - she is from an entirely anti-thetical culture: 

Well, I guess I'm gonna strike you as being the unrefined type, huh? 

Stanley knows from Stella that Blanche was married once when she was younger. Blanche explains what happened as she hears polka music - and associates the music with her dead husband. A distant gunshot in her head silences the music: "The boy...the boy died. I'm afraid I'm, I'm gonna be sick." [In the stage version of the play, her socially-proper young husband committed suicide because he had been caught in a homosexual encounter. The fact of her deceased husband's homosexuality is retained only through vague suggestion in the partially-censored film.] 

Blanche's large steamer trunks arrive, implying that she will be remaining for an extended stay. Because it is Stanley's poker night and the disruption might upset Blanche, Stella plans to take her out to dinner and leave Stanley with a cold plate on ice. With endearing kisses, she tries to persuade Stanley to be nice to Blanche who is edgy and seems to be upset by everything. Stella suggests that Stanley tell her that she looks good: 

Honey, when she comes in, be sure and say something nice about her appearance...and try to understand and be nice to her, honey. She wasn't expecting to find us in such a place...And admire her dress. Tell her she's looking wonderful. It's important to Blanche. A little weakness.

Stanley is very suspicious of Blanche's account of the demise of Belle Reve. He thinks that both of them have been swindled out of an inheritance from the family fortune: 

How about a few more details on that subject...Let's cop a gander at the bill of sale...What do you mean? She didn't show you no papers, no deed of sale or nothin' like that?...Well then, what was it then? Given away to charity?...Oh I don't care if she hears me. Now let's see the papers...Now listen. Did you ever hear of the Napoleonic code, Stella?...Now just let me enlighten you on a point or two...Now we got here in the state of Louisiana what's known as the Napoleonic code. You see, now according to that, what belongs to the wife belongs to the husband also, and vice versa...It looks to me like you've been swindled, baby. And when you get swindled under Napoleonic code, I get swindled too and I don't like to get swindled...Where's the money if the place was sold? 

He sees all her fancy clothing and jewelry in the trunk, gets all worked up and refuses to pamper her as Stella would have him. He throws Blanche's possessions around and violates her trunk with all its clothes, jewelry (and her love letters) - suspicious that a poor schoolteacher could have so many possessions: 

Now will you just open your eyes to this stuff here. Now I mean, what - has she got this stuff out of teacher's pay?...Will you look at these fine feathers and furs that she comes to bring herself in here. What is this article? That's a solid gold dress, I believe...Now what is that? There's a treasure chest of a pirate...That's pearls, Stella, ropes of 'em. What is your sister - a deep sea diver? Bracelets, solid gold. (To Stella) Where are your pearls and gold bracelets?...And here you are. Diamonds. A crown for an empress...Here's your plantation Stella, right here...Well, the Kowalskis and the DuBois - there's just a different notion on this. 

When Blanche comes out of the bathroom from a hot bath (where she was "soaking in a hot tub to quiet her nerves" - and compulsively cleansing herself of her past), Stanley is waiting for her like she is his prey. Her lady-like affectations rub Stanley the wrong way, as does the long steam bath (in the summertime!) and the disruption in his poker night plans. She notices her trunk has been partly unpacked ("exploded"), and he starts questioning her about her expensive-looking clothing ("It certainly looks like you raided some stylish shops in Paris, Blanche"). Stanley can't believe Blanche's pretentious attitude or her tales of rich and handsome suitors. He tells Blanche that he doesn't believe in complimenting women about their looks, when she appears to be fishing for compliments: 

I never met a dame yet that didn't know if she was good-lookin' or not without being told. And there's some of them that give themselves credit for more than they've got. I once went out with a dame who told me, 'I'm the glamorous type.' She says, 'I am the glamorous type.' I said, 'So what?'

He boasts to Blanche that when he said that, it "shut her up like a clam...it ended the conversation, that was all." He isn't "taken in by this Hollywood glamour stuff." Blanche describes his attitude: "You're simple, straightforward, and honest. A little bit on the, uh, primitive side, I should think." 

Blanche encourages him to ask any questions, because she claims that she has nothing to hide. Suspicious of her, Stanley explains the Louisiana Napoleonic Code to her: "...what belongs to the wife belongs to the husband also and vice versa." He clashes with her by not believing her stories: 

Blanche: My, but you have an impressive, judicial air.
Stanley: You know, if I didn't know that you was my wife's sister, I would get ideas about you...Don't play so dumb. You know what.

Laying her "cards on the table" [like his poker buddies], she admits to Stanley that she doesn't always tell the truth, but when veracity matters, she does: 

I know I fib a good deal. After all, a woman's charm is fifty percent illusion, but when a thing is important I tell the truth...

Blanche swears that she never cheated her sister, or Stanley, or anyone else on earth. Tearing into her, he insists on knowing where her papers are - completely insensitive to her frail emotional condition. In a tin box that contains most of her papers, he first finds her love letters, snatches them from her and tosses them around the room. With sexual innuendo, she attempts to reclaim them from being dirtied: 

These are love letters, yellowing with antiquity, all from one boy. Give them back to me!...The touch of your hand insults them!...Now that you've touched them I'll burn them...Poems a dead boy wrote. I hurt him the way that you would like to hurt me, but you can't! I'm not young and vulnerable any more. But my young husband was...Everyone has something they won't let others touch because of their intimate nature.

Then, Blanche locates the many Belle Reve papers ("there are thousands of papers, stretching back over hundreds of years affecting Belle Reve") - she explains its loss and how her family had squandered the fortune on 'epic debaucheries.' Her ancestors had lived animalistically [similar to Stanley's uncontrolled physical nature and libidinous way of life]: 

Piece by piece, our improvident grandfathers exchanged the land for their epic debauches, to put it mildly, 'til finally all that was left - and Stella can verify that! - was the house itself and about 20 acres of ground, including a graveyard, to which now all but Stella and I have retreated.

She defiantly thrusts the papers of her family estate at Stanley: 

Here they are. All of them! All papers! I hereby endow you with them! Take them. Peruse them. Commit them to memory, even! I think it's wonderfully fitting that Belle Reve should finally be this bunch of old papers in your big capable hands. 

And then Stanley announces the underlying reason for his interest in her papers: "Under the Napoleonic code, a man has got to take an interest in his wife's affairs. I mean, especially now that she's gonna have a baby." The news that Stella is pregnant by Stanley is a shocking revelation to Blanche. 

That evening, as Stanley's friends (including Pablo Gonzales (Nick Dennis) and Steve Hubbell (Rudy Bond)) gather to play poker in the cramped apartment late into the night, the sisters are restored to each other after the confrontation between Blanche and her brother-in-law over the lost home: 

I guess he's just not the type that goes for jasmine perfume. Maybe he's what we need to mix with our blood now that we've lost Belle Reve. We'll have to go on without Belle Reve to protect us. (She looks into the sky) Oh, how pretty the sky is! I oughta go there on a rocket that never comes down. 

Outside, Stella leads Blanche to a show, away from the rough masculine crowd, as Blanche remarks: "The blind are leading the blind!" One of Stanley's poker game buddies in the sweaty, boozy game is shy, middle-aged Harold "Mitch" Mitchell (Karl Malden) who often mentions his attachment to his sick mother that he must attend to: "I've gotta sick mother and she don't go to sleep until I get home at night." 

The two sisters appear back at home after the show, but before she enters, Blanche hesitates: "Wait till I powder. I feel so hot and frazzled." When they appear in the midst of the foursome playing their smoky card game, Stanley shows his characteristic disrespect for his sister-in-law: 

Blanche: Please don't get up.
Stanley: Nobody's gettin' up here, so don't get worried.

Blanche meets Mitch as he comes out of the bathroom - and she is slightly attracted to Mitch's sensitive nature. Stanley is in a foul mood, half-drunk, domineering toward his wife, and angry that Blanche has turned on loud rhumba music on the radio. 

Before leaving, Mitch strikes up a conversation with Blanche in the back room, naively admiring her genteel ways and impressed that she knows a quote from a "favorite sonnet" by Mrs. Browning inscribed in his silver cigarette case given to him by a dying girl: "And if God choose, I shall but love thee better - after - death." A coquettish Blanche explains her name for him: 

It's a French name. It means woods, and Blanche means white, so the two together mean white woods. Like an orchard in spring. You can remember it by that, if you care to.

Mitch is most impressed by Blanche and behaves like a gallant gentleman. He even puts a protective "adorable little paper lantern" on one of the bare light bulbs at her request to soften the glare: 

Blanche: I can't stand a naked light bulb any more than I can a rude remark or a vulgar action.
Mitch: Well, I guess we strike you as being a pretty rough bunch.
Blanche: I'm very adaptable to circumstances.

With the paper lampshade and the proper atmosphere of subdued lighting, Blanche creates a soft, exotic, romantic dream-like world in the shabby room: "We've made enchantment." Symbolically, she is physically, psychologically, and emotionally fragile - and hypersensitive to glaring bright lights that would reveal her declining beauty. With the radio playing waltz music, Blanche dances while gesturing romantically in the air - Mitch moves next to her like a dancing bear. 

Suddenly, after losing a poker hand, a drunken Stanley bursts into the room, and throws the music-playing radio crashing out the window. Stella thinks he has gone completely beserk: "Drunk, Drunk, animal thing you!" Stanley charges after his wife and assaults her with a few blows, causing a fight to break out to control his "lunacy." His poker buddies hold him under a cold shower to sober him up. 

Dripping wet with water, Stanley realizes he has struck and abused Stella, and feeling repentant for lashing out at her, he searches for her. Stella and Blanche have sought protective refuge in the upstairs apartment up a flight of stairs with wrought-iron railings. Sensually-macho and virile in his wet, torn T-shirt, he bellows repeatedly for Stella from the street in front of their building and sorrowfully begs for her return. It is a powerful, primal cry for her - almost an animalistic mating call: 

Hey, Stell - Laaahhhhh!

This scene is one of the most regularly-chosen clips played in film excerpts from cinematic history. With the low moan of a clarinet, Stella finally responds to her contradictory impulses - her anger melts into forgiveness, her fear into desire, and her distaste into sexual dependence and desire. [She demonstrates her own addiction to sex, similar to her sister's desires - their common ancestral heritage.] She leaves the shelter of the upstairs apartment and stands staring down at him from the upper landing. Then, she surrenders herself to him - she slowly descends the spiraling stairs to him and comes down to his level. He drops to his knees, crying. She sympathizes with him as he presses his face up to her pregnant belly and listens to the heartbeat of their unborn child. She kneads his muscle-bound back as they embrace and kiss. Stanley begs: "Don't ever leave me, baby," and then literally sweeps her off her feet. Like a caveman, he carries her into his cave - into the dark apartment. [The film hints at the consummation of their lustful relationship, but provides no direct evidence.] 

Blanche comes looking for them, and finds them inside - she stops and catches herself before entering into the flat. Outside the building, she finds Mitch, who asks if everything is "all quiet along the Potomac now?" He assures Blanche that the feuding couple are "crazy about each other," and things will be fine between them. Blanche thanks Mitch for his concern: "...so much confusion in the world. Thank you for being so kind. I need kindness now." Blanche has found that Mitch offers her one final chance to realize her self-preserving fantasy. 

The following morning, Blanche (who has spent a sleepless night upstairs) is surprised to find that Stella has forgiven Stanley so quickly: "He was as good as a lamb when I came back. He's really very, very ashamed of himself." [Some of the dialogue in this scene was excised by the censors.] Still lying in her bed under a sheet, lounging there following blissful sexual submission to Stanley the night before, Stella winsomely reminisces about Stanley as a destructive smasher. He had smashed things before, like on their wedding night when he triumphantly broke all the light bulbs in their place with one of Stella's slippers. She reflectively concludes - happily: "I was sort of thrilled by it." 

Blanche suggests a plan to get them away from the mad, crazy man ("You're married to a madman") that Stella sexually desires, but Stella defends Stanley and their love - not willing to sacrifice the stability she has found in her life with him: "I wish you'd stop taking it for granted that I'm in something I want to get out of." 

Blanche: What you are talking about is desire - just brutal Desire! The name of that rattle-trap streetcar that bangs through the Quarter, up one old narrow street and down another.
Stella: Haven't you ever ridden on that streetcar?
Blanche: It brought me here. Where I'm not wanted and where I'm ashamed to be.
Stella: Don't you think your superior attitude is a little out of place?

Furtively, Blanche betrays an envy of her sister's sexual involvement with her earthy husband. (Stanley, wearing a grease-stained undershirt, has returned from outside and overhears their conversation - in which he is condemned.) Then, Blanche describes him as animalistic, obscene, bestial and common: 

May I speak plainly?...If you'll forgive me, he's common!...He's like an animal. He has an animal's habits. There's even something subhuman about him. Thousands of years have passed him right by, and there he is! Stanley Kowalski, survivor of the Stone Age, bearing the raw meat home from the kill in the jungle! And you - you here waiting for him. Maybe he'll strike you or maybe grunt and kiss you, that's if kisses have been discovered yet. His poker night you call it. This party of apes!

Blanche contends that there has been progress in the human race with the development of the arts, poetry, and music - cultural elements that bring light to the darkness. She admonishes her sister: "Don't - don't hang back with the brutes!" 

Antagonized by Blanche's attempts to destroy his home, Stanley is increasingly hostile and unfriendly to his sister-in-law. Determined to unmask Blanche's dishonest masquerade and illusory world, Stanley begins to learn of Blanche's tawdry past (and various skeletons in the closet) through information from a friend named Shaw. Shaw, who regularly traveled to Mississippi, reported that Blanche had been seen at the squalid Flamingo Hotel selling her less than lady-like wares. When confronted, Blanche denies any association with the place, asserting: 

The Hotel Flamingo is not a place that I would dare to be seen in...I've seen it and, uh, smelled it...The odor of cheap perfume is penetrating.

Stanley threatens to have his friend check again in the town of Laurel to verify whether or not it was her. 

Nervous and on edge, Blanche is paranoid of "unkind gossip" from her past, so she confesses to her sister: "I haven't been so awfully good the last year or so, since Belle Reve started to slip through my fingers." She is morbid about the unpleasant realities of life and the impediments that face her in forming a permanent bond - her declining fortunes, her decreasing allure and beauty, and her advancing age: 

I never was hard or self-sufficient enough. Soft people, soft people have got to court the favor of hard ones, Stella. You got to shimmer and glow. I don't know how much longer I can turn the trick. It isn't enough to be soft. You've got to be soft and attractive. And I-I'm fading now.

When Stella pours Blanche a drink - a coke with a shot of whiskey - it overflows and spills foam on Blanche's dress. Upset by being sullied and violated [a symbolic suggestion to foreshadow the climactic rape scene], Blanche screams with a piercing cry about stains on her pastel-colored dress: "Right on my pretty pink skirt." She is reassured and recovers when the skirt is gently blotted and the stain comes out: 

Stella: Did it stain?
Blanche: No. No, not a bit. Ha-ha (hysterically) Isn't that lucky?
Stella: Why did you scream like that?
Blanche: I don't know why I screamed.

Blanche confides in her sister of her affection for Mitch, believing that she can be rescued, "waited on" and taken away from her problems by marriage: 

Mitch is coming at seven. I guess I'm a little nervous about our relations. He hasn't gotten anything more than a goodnight kiss. That's all I've given him, Stella. I want his respect. A man don't want anything they get too easy. On the other hand, men lose interest quickly, especially when a girl is over, over 30...I haven't informed him of my real age.

"Because of hard knocks my vanity's been given," Blanche is sensitive about her advancing age, and she attempts to keep surrounding herself with illusion: "He thinks I'm sort of prim and proper, you know! I want to deceive him just enough to make him want me." 

When a young newspaper delivery boy (Wright King) comes to the door to collect the bill for The Evening Star [Stella's name means 'celestial star'] one rainy afternoon, Blanche is attracted to him as a lonely woman pathologically desperate and yearning for sexual attention. He reminds her of her young husband who committed suicide [in her head, she hears polka music again - a flashback reverie of his suicide], and still neurotically grieving, she wants to subconsciously make up for his death. She causes the bashful young man to linger with small talk, first asking for a light for her cigarette and then asking for the time: 

Young man. Young, young, young. Did anyone ever tell you you look like a young prince out of the Arabian Nights? You do, honey lamb. Come here. (She seductively offers herself for a maternal kiss - he walks to her.) Come on over here, like I told you. I want to kiss you just once, softly and sweetly [on your mouth]*. *(originally deleted)

But she catches herself after seductively pressing one kiss into his lips, knowing she has a weakness for young males: 

Run away now quickly. It would have been nice to keep you, but I've got to be good - and keep my hands off children. Adios. Adios.

Immediately thereafter, Mitch comes around the corner, arriving in the young man's place. She demands that he court her chivalrously: "Look who's here. My Rosenkavalier!" He presents her with flowers, bows chivalrously, and they go on a date to a dancing casino. 

Feeling dismal and depressed, they wander to the outside porch of the pier/dock where they talk under a lamppost. She apologizes for not being able to "rise to the occasion...I don't think I've ever tried so hard to be gay and made such a dismal mess of it." Mitch doubtfully asks permission for a kiss, but Blanche declines expressing her natural feelings, explaining that it would encourage other familiarities: "...a single girl, a girl alone in the world, has got to keep a firm hold on her emotions, or she'll be lost." Mitch open-heartedly confesses: "In all my experience, I have never known anyone like you." Blanche reacts with a laugh. 

To fulfill more of Blanche's romantic dreams, she wants them to pretend that they are sitting in a little bohemian artists' cafe on the Left Bank in Paris. To create a make-believe, refined atmosphere, she lights a candle stub on the table and asks for "joie de vivre." Apologetic for sweating profusely, Mitch is persuaded to remove his "light weight alpaca" coat and then he explains why he has such an imposing physique and muscular strength - he lifts weights and swims to keep fit. 

He expects a kiss and fumbles to embrace her after putting his hands on her waist and raising her off the ground, but she evades him, calling him a "natural gentleman, one of the few left in the world." Then, she excuses herself as having "old-fashioned ideals." She slowly rolls her eyes up toward him. Mitch turns from her to cool off, and there is a long, awkward silence between them. 

She asks Mitch if a hostile Stanley has talked about her and what his "attitude" is toward her. Uneasy, Mitch soon changes the subject and asks how old she is. An overgrown mama's boy, he explains that his sick mother wants to know all about her and wishes for him to settle down before she dies (in maybe just a few months). Reminded of a past love affair when she was sixteen, Blanche reveals her discovery of love - 

All at once and much, much too completely. It was like you suddenly turned a blinding light on something that had always been half in shadow, that's how it struck the world for me. But I was unlucky - deluded.

In a very veiled account in the foggy surroundings of the dance casino, she tearfully recalls the details of her tragic early marriage to a handsome youth named Allan. Her memories are a painful reminder and she struggles to talk about how she judgmentally failed to be loving toward him: 

· He was homosexual: "There was something about the boy, a nervousness, a tenderness, an uncertainty that I didn't understand." 

· Blanche wished to satisfy her need to protect and help the young boy: "He lost every job. He came to me for help. I didn't know that. I didn't know anything except that I loved him unendurably." 

· He was possibly impotent with her, his new bride: "At night, I pretended to sleep. I heard him crying. Crying, crying the way a lost child cries." 

· She regretfully blames herself for driving her husband to suicide by cruelly rejecting him - at another dance casino: "I killed him. One night, we drove out to a place called Moon Lake Casino. We danced the Varsouviana! [the polka dance] Suddenly in the middle of the dance floor, the boy I had married broke away from me and ran out of the casino. A few minutes later - a shot! (A distant shot sounds) I ran - all did - all ran and gathered about the terrible thing at the edge of the lake. He stuck a revolver into his mouth and fired. It was because, on the dance floor, unable to stop myself I said - 'You're weak! I've lost respect for you! I despise you!" 

Metaphorically, the merciless exposure of the revelation about the young man extinguished the momentarily-illuminated searchlight and dimmed Blanche's world ever since: 

And then the searchlight which had been turned on the world was turned off again and never for one moment since has there been any light stronger than, than this yellow lantern.

Afterwards, Mitch comes over to stand by her and he tentatively consoles her, having been persuaded to revere her as an innocent, wronged woman: 

You need somebody. And I need somebody, too. Could it be you and me, Blanche?

He thinks about proposing to her and kisses her forehead. They huddle together and embrace, feeling a mutual need for each other - they kiss on the lips. 

  

In a short scene in the machine shop where both Mitch and Stanley work, Mitch expresses shock and anger that Stanley has "wised" him up and revealed the truth about Blanche: 

Stanley: You're gonna kill who, you dumb jerk? You don't even know when you get wised up. Come on.
Mitch: You don't have to wise me up!

After five and a half months have passed, Stanley's patience has grown thin with Blanche - he thinks "her time is up" after taking advantage of their hospitality. A vicious interplay of distrust and suspicion continues between the increasingly unsympathetic Stanley and sister-in-law Blanche. By now, Stanley has verified Blanche's shady past in the town of Laurel: 

She is as famous in Laurel as if she was the President of the United States, only she is not respected by any party!

While Blanche is in the bathroom taking a long, hot soak for her nerves, Stanley tells Stella of two major lies from Blanche's past that he has discovered about her. After losing Belle Reve that was sold for back taxes, his sister-in-law turned to prostitution while at the Flamingo Hotel, and then was eventually evicted from there and run out of town. Indigent and with no other place to go, Blanche was forced to take refuge in New Orleans with them, for food and shelter: 

She moved to the hotel called Flamingo which is a second class hotel that has the advantages of not interfering with the private and social life of the personalities there. Now the Flamingo is used to all kinds of goings-on. But even the management of the Flamingo was impressed by Dame Blanche. And in fact, they were so impressed that they requested her to turn in her room-key for permanently. And this, this happened a couple of weeks before she showed here...The trouble with Dame Blanche was that she couldn't put on her act any more in Laurel because they got wised up. And after two or three dates, they quit and then she goes on to another one, the same old line, the same old act, and the same old hooey! And as time went by, she became the town character, regarded not just as different but downright loco and nuts.

Secondly, she lost her teaching position and was forced to resign her school position as a result of an affair with one of her under-age students, a seventeen-year-old high school boy. The seduction incident was reported to the high-school superintendent by the boy's father: 

She didn't resign temporarily because of her nerves. She was kicked out before the spring term ended. And I hate to tell you the reason that step was taken. A seventeen-year-old kid she got mixed up with - and the boy's dad learned about it and he got in touch with the high-school superintendent. And there was practically a town ordinance passed against her.

Stanley has also poisoned her relationship with his poker-playing, bowling, and work buddy Mitch. He has dutifully told him all about her past ("he's wised up"), and destroyed what might have been between them. He breaks down any belief Mitch had expressed in Blanche's worthiness as an object of his love: "He's not gonna marry her now. He's not gonna jump in a tank with a school of sharks." 

In the tense, memorable scene of Blanche's birthday dinner, Mitch has been invited to the party, but he deliberately doesn't appear. His absence is conspicuous. Blanche jokes about being stood up and plays being a rejected woman who doesn't know the real truth. During the party, when Stanley eats greasy chicken, even Stella calls him a pig ("Mr. Kowalski is too busy making a pig of himself...Your face and your fingers are disgustingly greasy.") Viewing both of them as invaders of his territory, Stanley intimidates both women. He is threatened that Blanche may remind his wife of his lower-class breeding and limitations. He tells them off as he clears the table in his own way with the swipe of his arm: 

Now that's how I'm gonna clear the table. Don't you ever talk that way to me! 'Pig,' 'Pollack,' 'disgusting,' 'vulgar,' 'greasy.' Those kind of words have been on your tongue and your sister's tongue just too much around here!

Tired of being accused of being an inarticulate brute, he screams at them and crowns himself king of his run-down apartment: 

What do you think you are? A pair of queens? Now just remember what Huey Long said - that every man's a king - and I'm the King around here, and don't you forget it!

He hurls his cup against the wall and smashes it to pieces. "My place is all cleared up. You want me to clear yours?" 

Blanche, fearing that Stanley has informed Mitch of her past and destroyed her last bit of sanity and hope because he hasn't come to her birthday dinner, telephones him, but fails to talk to him. Stanley assures Stella that everything will be all right after Blanche leaves and after Stella has delivered their baby: 

Honey, it's gonna be so sweet when we can get them colored lights going with nobody's sister behind the curtains to hear us.

Stanley takes extreme offense at Blanche's denigration of his ethnic nationality: "I am not a Pollack. People from Poland are Poles. They are not Pollacks. But what I am is one hundred percent American. I'm born and raised in the greatest country on this earth and I'm proud of it. And don't you ever call me a Pollack!" Cruelly, he presents Blanche with a "little birthday remembrance," a Greyhound bus ticket back to where she came from: "That's a ticket back to Laurel on the bus. Tuesday." 

Stanley believes that sister-in-law Blanche has upset their good times since her arrival. He remembers back to earlier good times before she arrived and deceptively told them of the majestic Belle Reve and its columns: 

Listen, baby, when we first met - you and me - you thought I was common. Well, how right you was! I was common as dirt. You showed me a snapshot of the place with them columns, and I pulled you down off them columns, and you loved it, having them colored lights goin'! And wasn't we happy together? Wasn't it all okay till she showed here? And wasn't we happy together? Wasn't it all OK? Till she showed here. Hoity-toity, describin' me like an ape.

Suddenly going into labor, Stella asks to be taken to the hospital to have her baby delivered. [With another member of the family arriving in the small apartment, there may be no place remaining for Blanche anyway.] 

In another memorable scene, a drunk and vindictive Mitch arrives to confront Blanche while Stella and Stanley are on their way to the hospital. Blanche is resting in a tense, awkward position, portrayed in an overhead shot through a revolving fan (the blades shoot shadows across her figure). Immediately, she fearfully notices his strange appearance and finds him to be an unrepentant suitor: 

Oh, my, my, what a cold shoulder. And what uncouth apparel! Why, you haven't even shaved!

The polka tune starts up in Blanche's mentally-disturbed head, and she hears the shot of a distant revolver silencing it. The polka music dies out as it usually does. Mitch thinks she is "boxed" out of her mind. Angrily, he tells her he didn't come to the birthday dinner because he didn't want to see her anymore, enraged that she had betrayed and misled him. Mitch complains about the darkness, not ever being able to see her in the light. [The film's black and white cinematography, with extensive use of indirect lighting, adds to the shadowy, secretive atmosphere in which Blanche hides.] Vulnerable, Blanche finds comfort in the shadows that hide the ravages of time on her face: "I like the dark. The dark is comforting to me." Mitch rips the paper lantern off a light bulb [the one he had so graciously put there for her many months earlier] - wanting realism and direct light reflected on her face. She prefers the pleasures of her fantasy world rather than divulging her true age: 

I don't want realism. I want magic! Yes, yes, magic. I try to give that to people. I do misrepresent things. I don't tell the truth. I tell what ought to be truth.

After turning on the light switch, Mitch ruthlessly holds Blanche's haggard face up to the merciless glare of a naked bulb and shatters her dignity. He complains not about the hard-edged lines on her face, but about how she deceived him: "Oh, I don't mind you being older than what I thought. But all the rest of it. That pitch about your ideals being so old-fashioned and all the malarkey that you've been dishin' out all summer. Oh, I knew you weren't sixteen anymore. But I was fool enough to believe you was straight." Like Stanley, he checked up on her past and her association with the Flamingo Hotel and found the same damning evidence. 

When questioned about her past and accused of having countless lovers, Blanche gathers together the remnants of her emotional strength and admits everything about her sordid past after the death of her husband. Describing her nymphomaniacal tendencies "with strangers," she tells Mitch coldly and harshly even more than he wants to know: 

I stayed at a hotel called the Tarantula Arms...Yes, a big spider. That's where I brought my victims. Yes, I have had many meetings with strangers. After the death of Allan, meetings with strangers was all I seemed able to fill my empty heart with. I think it was panic, just panic, that drove me from one to another searching for some protection. Here, there, and then in the most unlikely places.

She even confesses her affair with a seventeen-year-old student in one of her classes, and how she lost her job for being "morally unfit." "Played out," Blanche explains how she retreated to her sister's place, and how a gentle-minded Mitch offered protection to her and the possibility of respectable marriage: "A cleft in the rock of the world that I could hide in." Mitch feels betrayed because she hadn't been straight with him. Blanche replies that desire never travels a predictable track like the regulated trackway of a streetcar: 

Straight? What's 'straight'? A line can be straight, or a street. But the heart of a human being?

Mitch berates her and accuses her of lying to him and hiding her past: "You lied to me, Blanche...Lies! Lies, inside and out! All lies!" She pleads: "Never inside! I never lied in my heart." Suddenly, a female Mexican vendor calls out from outside the building, selling flowers for the dead: "Flores. Flores para los muertos." [Flowers. Flowers for the dead.] At the door, the woman offers Blanche some of the brightly-painted, tin-blossomed, inert flowers. Somehow, Blanche senses that the flower delivery implies the imminence of her death, causing her distraught and fright. She slams the door: "No, no. Not now. No!" Blanche tells of the terrible choice she had to make between two extremes opposites: Death and Desire. She chose the company of the later - Desire - with strangers, traveling salesmen and young boys/men, anything to take away the loneliness: 

I used to sit here and she used to sit there. And Death was as close as you are. Death. The opposite is Desire. Oh, how could you wonder? How could you possibly wonder?

She even divulges that she serviced young recruits from a nearby army camp: 

Not far from Belle Reve, before we had lost Belle Reve, was a camp where they trained young soldiers. On Saturday nights, they would go in town to get drunk and on the way back, they would stagger onto my lawn and call - 'Blanche!' 'Blanche!'

Mitch purposefully follows after her and forcefully kisses Blanche, as if she doesn't deserve anything more than to be assaulted and sexually used - a foreshadowing of the final climax. Blanche entreats him: "Marry me, Mitch." His reply devastates her when he rejects any possibility of a relationship with her. He reneges on his previous marriage proposal, after discovering her checkered past. He prefers instead to retreat to his dependency with his mother: 

No, I don't think I want to marry you anymore...No, you're not clean enough to bring into the house with my mother.

Devastated, she covers his mouth, pushes him away and starts screaming hysterically. Her reaction sends him running into the street. An inquisitive crowd gathers around the tenement. She retreats into the past, the darkness of the house and the shattered pieces of her fantasy world - she also closes all the shutters on the windows. A policeman knocks on the door of the Kowalski residence to investigate, but she assures him that everything is fine. 

In the deserted house, she ritualistically dresses herself in faded finery like a faded southern belle, and then walks around in a soiled and crumpled white satin gown to resurrect a time that has passed forever. On her head, she wears a rhinestone tiara as a crown. Blanche speaks to a non-existent, admiring group of guests. During her rantings, she hears "Good Night Ladies," and wishes to lay her weary head down. Stanley's voice startles her from the darkness. The light is switched on to illuminate her face. 

With Stella at the hospital delivering a baby, Stanley has returned home to "get a little shut eye" - he is full of pride in being a father. He confronts a half-drunk and crazed Blanche, who confusedly explains that she is waiting for a wire (telegram) from an old admirer - a millionaire named Shep Huntleigh from Dallas who has supposedly invited her on a Caribbean cruise on a yacht. [With Mitch deserting her, Shep is her one final hope.] Stanley believes she is manufacturing more unreal lies as he removes his shirt - knowing how his undressing [a symbol of foreplay] will affect Blanche. Delicately, she requests that he not disrobe in her presence: "Close the curtains before you undress any further." Looking for a bottle opener for his beer, Stanley describes one of his coarse relatives: 

Did you know I used to have a cousin who could open a bottle of beer with his teeth? And that was all he could do. He was just a human bottle-opener. And then one time at a wedding party, he broke his front teeth right off. [He shakes the bottle of beer before opening it. The beer foams and shoots up like a potent, virile phallic geyser - a sexually symbolic gesture.] And then, after that, he was so ashamed of himself that he used to sneak outta the house when company came. Rain from heaven.

With white, foamy beer dripping down from his mouth, Stanley suggestively proposes, as a father-to-be, that they celebrate: 

Hey, whaddya say Blanche, you wanna bury the hatchet and make a loving-cup?

He marches into the privacy of her room as she draws back and covers herself with a thin veil. For the special occasion, Stanley pulls out the pair of silk pajamas he wore on his wedding night: 

I guess we're both entitled to put on the dog. You're having an oil millionaire and I'm having a baby.

Blanche believes that her rich-man admirer Huntleigh will respect her, desire her for companionship, and not invade her privacy. He will want a cultured woman such as herself - with inner beauty. She convinces herself that she is not getting older, but only improving with age: 

A cultivated woman - a woman of breeding and intelligence - can enrich a man's life immeasurably. I have those things to offer, and time doesn't take them away. Physical beauty is passing - transitory possession - but beauty of the mind, richness of the spirit, tenderness of the heart - I have all those things - aren't taken away but grow! Increase with the years!

She retreats into her non-existent fantasy world, insinuating that she lives with the piggish Stanley: "Strange that I should be called a destitute woman when I have all these treasures locked in my heart. I think of myself as a very, very rich woman. But I have been foolish - casting my pearls before..." Stanley finishes the sentence: "Swine, huh?" 

To lessen the pain of Mitch's rejection, Blanche turns the tables and imagines that she gave Mitch "his walking papers." She describes how Mitch sought her forgiveness, but she felt it best that they say farewell: 

He implored my forgiveness. Some things are not forgivable. Deliberate cruelty is not forgivable. It is the one unforgivable thing in my opinion and the one thing of which I have never, never been guilty. And so I said to him, 'Thank you,' but it was foolish to think that we could ever adapt ourselves to each other.

In a memorable sequence, loosened up by the alcohol, Stanley accuses her of making up each of her stories: the wire, the millionaire, and Mitch's departure: "There isn't a goddamn thing but imagination, and lies and deceit and tricks." He tells her to face facts and look at her ragged self. She may be a queen, but she is only a drunkard. After he throws her on the bed, he towers over her as he rips into her and her moth-eaten dress while depriving her of her illusions: 

Take a look at yourself here in a worn-out Mardi Gras outfit, rented for 50 cents from some rag-picker. And with a crazy crown on. Now what kind of a queen do you think you are? Do you know that I've been on to you from the start, and not once did you pull the wool over this boy's eyes? You come in here and you sprinkle the place with powder and you spray perfume and you stick a paper lantern over the light bulb - and, lo and behold, the place has turned to Egypt and you are the Queen of the Nile, sitting on your throne, swilling down my liquor. And do you know what I say? Ha ha! Do you hear me? Ha ha ha!

Blanche is extremely frightened. Feeling cornered, she gathers up all her things. At the door, she hears and sees the chanting Mexican flower woman across the street, walking towards her in the evening mist. To prove that her illusory story about Huntleigh is true, she makes a frantic phone call to Western Union, but then dictates a message of her own: 

Desperate, desperate circumstances. Caught in a trap. Help me! Caught in a trap!

Stanley comes out of the bathroom, now dressed in his silk pajamas - the ones he wore on his wedding night. He stares at her while knotting the sash around his waist and watching her pointless actions. He blocks her retreat out the door, asking: "You think I'm gonna interfere with you?...[Maybe you wouldn't be bad to interfere with.]*" *(originally deleted) 

Blanche moves back into her curtained-off bedroom when Stanley approaches toward her with a predatory look. She breaks a beer bottle and holds up the jagged edges at Stanley's face, brandishing it in front of him and threatening to "twist the broken end" in his face. Promoting a little "roughhouse," he grabs her wrist and snarls: "Tiger, tiger. Drop that bottletop. Drop it." And then he overpowers her to complete her degradation, using intimate sexual union to permanently destroy any connection she has with the real world. An ornately-framed mirror is smashed and shattered in the climactic assault. In the reflection of the mirror, it appears that Blanche faints in Stanley's arms. [The explicit rape scene that followed was excluded by censors.] 

Like the mirror, Blanche's sexual, narcissistic illusions of her own refinement and moral sophistication are cracked and splintered. She is thoroughly traumatized by the violence and ravishment, and sinks further into madness, make-believe, and aloneness. In the end, he has completely and systematically destroyed her sanity, and caused her final break with reality - on the same night that his wife is delivering their first baby - and on Blanche's birthday! 

The next scene abruptly cuts to a metaphoric, sexual analogy - the 'phallic' blast of water from a street cleaner's hose as he sprays the gutter outside. It is probably a few days later, and Stella has returned from delivering her baby. Stanley is again playing cards with his male pals in their standard way - they are "making pigs" of themselves. He elatedly brags to them about luck: "You know what luck is? Luck is believing you're lucky, that's all...To hold a front position in this rat-race, you've got to believe you are lucky." As part of her regular rituals, Blanche takes a cleansing bath in another part of the apartment. 

The dilemma facing Stella is clear - in order to continue living with her husband, she has no choice but to deny the truth of Blanche's story (the rape) and to accept Stanley's lie: "I couldn't believe her story and go on living with Stanley. I-I couldn't." 

To provide emotional support, Stella and the upstairs neighbor Eunice play along with Blanche's fantasy about going on a trip with "the gentleman from Dallas" - Shep Huntleigh. Blanche is anxious to get away on the trip: "This place is a trap." When she hears pure "cathedral bells" toll for her in the French Quarter, she is ready to leave. Instead of a vacation, they have arranged for her to be taken off to a mental hospital with a doctor and a heavy-set matron. [The shattered mirror on the wall has been replaced with a new one - and Blanche is convinced that she again looks "lovely."] 

In a memorable farewell scene, Blanche moves fearfully through the room where the poker game is being played, excusing herself as she finishes the final part of her journey: "Please don't get up. I'm only passing through." At first, she resists the doctor because he isn't the courtly gentleman she was expecting ("This man isn't Shep Huntleigh") and retreats in panic back inside. Stanley offers her the paper lantern to entice her to leave and she clutches for it. As Blanche collapses and is pinned to the floor by the overbearing, potentially-cruel matron, it is observed that Blanche will no longer need protective claws: "These fingernails have to be trimmed." Mitch sits helplessly and shamefully at the poker table. 

When addressed as Miss DuBois and offered an arm by the calm, elderly doctor, Blanche is led away [as if blind as she was earlier with Stella] to the institution with a trusting, childlike expression - accompanied to a place populated by "strangers" where her illusory fantasies will remain intact, but where real human contacts will once again be severed: 

Whoever you are, I have always depended on the kindness of strangers. 

She is led away by another stranger - this time, a kindly one. 

Disgusted by Stanley and suspicious of him, Stella vows to have nothing more to do with him and will not return to him. He will be justly punished for his lustful violation of his sister-in-law: "Don't you touch me. Don't you ever touch me again." After Blanche has departed for the asylum, Stella takes her wrapped-up baby in her arms [a visual Madonna and child image] and refuses to listen to her husband's entreaties. While nestling her new baby in her arms, she vows: "I'm not going back in there again. Not this time. I'm never going back. Never." She climbs to the upstairs neighbor's apartment after rejecting him. 

[In the play, Stella will stand by her husband Stanley and take him back, even after he has raped her sister. In the film, Stanley had to be punished after raping Blanche by losing Stella's love.] 

The arrival of the baby is just as disruptive to Stanley's relationship with Stella as Blanche's arrival was. Things will change forever as Stella will now be less dependent upon him for emotional and sexual support with her attachment to her child. 

Stanley customarily bellows: "Hey Stella. Hey Stella," as the film ends. 
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	1. Introduction 

A Streetcar Named Desire was written by Tennessee Williams in his mid-thirties and first staged in New York on December 3 1947. Just as his first play, The Glass Menagerie, produced only two years earlier, Streetcar was a huge success and stabilized Williams’ position among the most respected and influencing playwrights in modern theater. It was also his first production to be turned into a movie and because of the highly emotional plot and the superb actors it became a blockbuster on the "big screen".

Williams takes the audience to New Orleans where the relationship of Blanche DuBois, her sister Stella and brother-in-law Stanley is being illuminated. The following look on the similarities and differences between the play and the film version will give an in-depth view on the essential points, although it is by no means an overall interpretation.

2. Similarities 

A. General Similarities 

"A movie based on a Tennessee Williams play is a Tennessee Williams film" Forster Hirsch said (Phillips 223). One can only agree with this statement, its evidence is undisputed. Furthermore he adds that "The Williams films retain the spirit of the original play, especially, as in the case of Streetcar, when Williams himself worked on the screenplay. His personality still dominates the film version" (Phillips 223). Williams was one of the dramatists who would go to every rehearsal of his play and sit in the audience just to be there and watch closely how things went. He never interfered a great deal, because many directors had their own way of interpreting the plot. Contrary to all expectations he found in Elia Kazan an excellent director who was not only willing, but was indeed dependent on the cooperation of the playwright. Streetcar was their first production together and later they became close friends.

Just as the play had been a huge success on the stage, earning several awards, among others the Pulitzer Prize and the Drama Critic’s Circle Award, the movie was a box-office success and won several Academy Awards as for best actress, best supporting actress and actor and many more.

B. Actors and Crew 

In 1947 Tennessee Williams had seen Elia Kazan’s production of Arthur Miller’s All My Sons, and was so impressed by the staging of the drama that he wanted him as director for Streetcar. At first Kazan resisted this idea, but his wife, an old friend of Williams, read the play and eventually won her husband over for the job (Williams, Tennessee, Memoirs 130).

The casting of the two leading actors was somewhat difficult. Kazan dispatched the twenty-three-year-old Marlon Brando to Cape Cod, where Williams was staying for the summer, and wanted him to read the part of Stanley. Brando was in Kazan’s "beginners" class and had never been playing any major characters so far, but as Williams got to meet him, three days later then he was expecting him, Brando was immediately given the role of Stanley Kowalski. "I never saw such a raw talent in an individual" Williams wrote afterward (Hayman 119). The opposite role to Stanley, Blanche DuBois, was given to Jessica Tandy, who had been playing Portrait Of A Madonna, a one-act play also by Williams, which was directed by her husband Hume Cronyn. Later he recalls in his memoirs that "it was instantly apparent to me that Jessica was Blanche" (Williams, Tennessee, 132). As the two most important roles were cast, Williams told Kazan he should take care of the other parts as he wished. Kim Hunter as Blanche’s sister Stella and Karl Malden as Mitch were chosen without any notice. With just one exception most of the original members of the stage production remained the same and had to repeat their roles in the film version of A Streetcar Named Desire directed also by Elia Kazan. This change in cast was the role of Blanche, who was originally taken by Jessica Tandy. Vivien Leigh, who had been playing Blanche in London, directed by her present husband Laurence Olivier, had gotten the vote to star in the screenplay. The movie was shot in a short period as all of the actors had been performing their roles countless times on stage. Kazan later remembers that "it was difficult to get involved in it again, to generate the kind of excitement which I had had for the first time around. The actors where fine – but for me it was marrying the same woman twice; you know that there won’t be any surprises this time" (Phillips 229).

At first Leigh had trouble with Kazan; she told him that her role of Blanche intended by her husband differed from the one he had on his mind, but he unmistakably made clear that she was either to follow his lead or leave. She agreed and became enthusiastic (Williams, Dakin 179). Although Leigh was a British actress, she was to take again the role of a southern gentlewoman, just as about ten years before in Gone With The Wind, and undeniably the southern twang suits her well. Her interpretation of Blanche made a strong impression on critics and it won her the Oscar for best female in a leading role. Brando was the perfect counterpart and he transferred his explosive performance from the stage to the screen. Unfortunately he lost the Academy Award to Humphrey Bogart staring on the side of Katherine Hepburn in African Queen this year. Nevertheless it was the beginning of the road to success for Brando. He never went back to the stage but gave his breakthrough performance four years later in The Wild One, which finally made him a movie star.

As already mentioned Kazan and Williams became close friends over the years. They worked together on several other productions like Cat On A Hot Tin Roof, to name just one. Kazan was awarded an Oscar for his lifetime achievement this spring, but critics were divided into two sides, one praising his tribute to modern theater and film and the other pointing to doubtful involvement of his in anti-communistic affairs during the McCarthy era. In any event, his work as a director is inviolable.

C. Plot and Words 

If the words in the play and in the movie are compared one recognizes that they are – with few exceptions due to reason we will discuss further below – almost identical. The same observation can be made by looking at the plot of the movie, which closely follows the structure of the play. Streetcar’s eleven scenes make a perfect script for the stage as well as for the screen. Kazan tried to stay as close to the original production as possible, although he thought about opening up the movie for the "big screen", which is usually a good approach. He turned down this attempt after rehearsing scenes outside New Orleans, which showed Blanche leaving Belle Reve and moving into the city. Kazan said:

I filmed the play as it was because there was nothing to change. I have no general theory about opening out a play for the screen; it depends on the subject matter. Streetcar is a perfect play. I did consider opening out the play for the screen initially, but ultimately decided to go back to the original play script. It was a polished script that had played in the theater for a year and a half (Phillips 225).

The depressing narrowness of the Kowalski apartment was transferred from the stage to the screenplay with the help of a remarkable trick. "What I actually did," Kazan explains, "was to make the set smaller; as the story progressed, I took out little flats, and the set got smaller and smaller" (Phillips 227). Even if the characters are being summoned to different places, which are only mentioned, but not staged in the original production, the scenery appears similar to the one described in the stage directions of the play.

Williams always regarded his plays and movies as highly personal affairs, and that is exactly where some critics hook up on; they deny the author the right to get involved in his work in the sense of using too much of his own experience and background. He always made sure that his production would be considered his own work in all media, and to critics he replied: "all true work of an artist must be personal, whether directly or obliquely, it must and it does reflect the emotional climates of its creator" (Williams, Tennessee, Memoirs 188). Although the name of Oscar Saul appears in the credits of Streetcar for the adaptation of the play to the screen, he had to rewrite only a few lines. Words that were essential to the story and had to be changed due to reasons we will learn more about further below were left to Williams himself. That way the plot was left intact in its entirety.

3. Differences 

A. General Differences 

The movie takes the audience to places which are only briefly referred to in the play, e.g. the bowling alley, or places not mentioned at all, like the pier of a dance casino, where Blanche tells Mitch about her husband’s death (he killed himself at a dance casino too, so this scene serves as a perfect upholder for the suicide of Alan Grey). Another location change portrays Mitch’s shock and disbelief of Stanley’s revelations about Blanche’s shady past in the factory where the two of them work together. The noises of the machinery in the background express the jolt that Mitch has just received (Phillips 227). All these differences can be considered of minor interest for they do not relate to vital parts of the play. But there were forceful cuts and changes on the very importance of A Streetcar Named Desire made, as we will see later on.

The change in cast, the replacement of Jessica Tandy by Vivien Leigh, has already been mentioned before. Leigh’s success on the screen is no different from Tandy’s on the stage, but as movies aim to a larger audience the stardom is unlike bigger. Kazan tried to keep the camera moving and shot the actors from various angles in order not to retain the static atmosphere of a stage setting. He used the close-up on the actor’s faces to show their feelings bluntly and with all their dramatic power. The theater audience never had the opportunity to take a close look at Blanche’s face when Mitch says: "I don’t think I ever seen you in the light" (Williams, Tennessee, Streetcar 116) and tears the paper lantern off the light bulb. The camera reveals all signs of age, every wrinkle can be observed in broad spotlight.

Besides the use of light compared with zoom, Kazan let the camera move throughout the whole building. Again the moviegoer was allowed to see places which could never be showed on stage. The poker scene is cause to the cutting back and forth between the Kowalski and the Hubbell apartment where in the first one the men play their game while in the other Eunice threatens to pour boiling water through the floor boards to break up the bustle. Phillips explains it this way:

He [Kazan] moved the action fluidly throughout the whole tenement building without, at the same time, sacrificing the stifling feeling of restriction that is so endemic to the play, since Blanche sees the entire tenement, not just the Kowalski flat, as a jungle in which she has become trapped (228).

Indeed the scenery is like a wall around Blanche although her appearances are in many more locations than in the stage production. As already referred to Kazan made the set even smaller as the story progresses. Shadows, walls and even the furniture seem to endanger Blanche in the trap of the apartment; her only way out is through madness and by this with the help of the character of the doctor. This end as it is in the play differs from the conclusion the movie gives, but why and how will be discussed in the following.

B. Censorship 

When A Streetcar Named Desire opened in theaters in December 1951 there was no official censorship to undergo of any movie being released, though the producers volunteered for an investigation by the Motion Picture Association of America (MPAA) and the Catholic Legion of Decency (CLD). Naturally this happened with no end in itself, but an independent rating served the purpose of attracting a large audience at the box office. The MPAA was founded in 1922 and had been known as the "Hays Office" for a long time, being named after its first president. A "Production Code" for motion pictures was released in 1930 and four years later Joseph Breen became president and began to enforce the demands. It was strictly forbidden to show clear sexual and violent actions or to use swearwords of any kind, like "God", "hell" and "damn" a.s.o. (Monaco 277). The CLD, which formed the same year the "Hays Office" turned into the "Breen Office", and the MPAA had a not to underestimated influence on moviegoers all over America, which easily gives the explanation why a good rating was indispensable. As Phillips explains that "He [Kazan] learned that the Legion of Decency, [...], had advised Warner that Streetcar was going to receive a ‘C‘ (condemned) rating, meaning that Catholics would be discouraged from seeing the film" (232). The production company, namely Warner, could under no circumstances accept this decision, as it would have come close to a total loss if the main audience would be kept away from theaters. Therefore they asked the CLD to review the movie after several cuts were made in order to gain a more positive rating. Moreover the MPAA and with it especially Breen had a hand on the filming of Streetcar right from the beginning. Though they had no system of censorship except the "Production Code" until 1968, Breen asked Kazan and Williams to make several changes to the script to suit the standards he demanded. The two major changes he asked for were concerning the rape of Blanche by Stanley and the homosexuality of Blanche’s husband Alan Grey. In all, twelve cuts were made in the movie at his behest, amounting to about four minutes of screen time (Phillips 233).

C. Homosexuality 

Breen had two major demands on Streetcar: The reference to the homosexuality of Blanche’s husband had to be revised and her rape was to be eliminated completely. To start out with the first objection one has to recall that the Hollywood of the 1950’s was somewhat different from today’s point of view on homosexual matters. While censorship on the European continent was mostly politically influenced, it originated in the United States almost exclusively from the ethics and Puritanism of the Victorian relation towards sex (Monaco 276).

Producers and directors had to be careful about the handling of certain aspects like explicit expressions of violence, sex or comparable subjects.

In the original play Blanche tells Mitch about the suicide of her husband, Alan Grey, after returning from a night out. She recalls entering a room and finding her husband in bed with another man.

Afterwards we pretended that nothing had been discovered. Yes, the three of us drove out to Moon Lake Casino, very drunk and laughing all the way. We danced the Varsouviana! Suddenly in the middle of the dance the boy I had married broke away from me and ran out of the casino. A few moments later – a shot (Williams, Tennessee, Streetcar 96)!

Blanche blames herself for the tragic circumstances that occurred this very night, because she told Alan that she was nothing but disgusted by his actions, not thinking about his fragile existence and the torture he had been enduring.

Williams agreed to rewrite Blanche’s monologue, but left the essential meaning intact, although the very words were changed. In the movie she says: "At night I pretended to sleep, and I heard him crying," where instead in the play she talks about the aforementioned discovery of her husband’s homosexuality. For the mature audience it was obvious what was meant when Blanche concludes that she has "lost all respect for him [Alan]."

Above all changes made to the script Kazan chose a different setting for this particular scene. He put Blanche and Mitch on the pier in front of a dance casino, by this referring to the place where the suicide happened. The whole ambience of the situation, the mist and the dim light, hardly revealing anything but the outlines of the actors, serves completely the purpose of giving the monologue a dreadful touch of Blanche’s depression. Both, Kazan and Williams, were content with this solution, which also suited Breen.

D. Rape and Punishment 

The second major objection the MPAA raised, was Stanley’s rape of Blanche. Williams absolutely refused to eliminate this scene as he thought it was of a vital need for the play. Phillips quotes:

Streetcar is an extremely and peculiarly moral play, in the deepest and truest sense of the term. ... The rape of Blanche by Stanley is a pivotal, integral truth in the play, without which the play loses its meaning, which is the ravishment of the tender, the sensitive, the delicate, by the savage and brutal forces of modern society (230).

Breen didn’t succeed in getting through his demand, but agreed that the rape could remain in the movie, if only Stanley would be punished for his action. The stage productions ends with Blanche’s famous last words: "Whoever you are – I have always depended on the kindness of strangers," (Williams, Tennessee, Streetcar 142) followed by Stella yelling her name and the doctor taking her away to a mental home. The screenplay had to have another scene added; Stella is seen in front of the tenement building, holding her baby in her arms, she utters words of regret and that she would leave Stanley for sure. This different ending is intended to be Stanley’s punishment, for losing Stella and his child had always been his weak spot, as we are told in scene three. And just this return of Stella in the early beginning makes it so unbelievable that she would be strong enough to leave him after all. She is just like Blanche, always needing someone to cling to, someone that takes care of her and that she is attracted to, anything Stanley offers, although he can be seen as a fierce brute force, following his basic instincts, taking whatever he desires. Furthermore this behavior of his was another point Breen made Warner cut out after the movie was already finished. Originally Stanley says: "Come to think of it – maybe you wouldn’t be bad to – interfere with ..." and after Blanche trying to defend herself with a broken bottle: "Tiger – tiger! Drop the bottle top! Drop it! We’ve had this date with each other from the beginning" (Williams, Tennessee, Streetcar 129-30)! These words clearly expressing that he raped his sister-in-law on purpose. The officially released movie version was missing both sentences, giving the impression that both, Stanley and Blanche, were drunk and a "bad" thing happened for which Stanley is being punished in the end. Breen’s only objection were to words and plot only, thus leaving Kazan the opportunity to work with symbols that couldn’t be used in a stage production. Earlier in the scene Stanley uncaps a bottle of beer, letting it spill over – a symbol for his sexual energy – and immediately after the rape a cut to a street cleaner’s hose is inserted, another strong phallic image. Kazan later calls it "a little too obvious," but it helped him underline the rape without showing it on the screen at all, "because in those days we had to be very indirect in depicting material of that kind" (Phillips 231).

E. Smaller Moral Differences 

To continue the look on the various differences we will focus on things which are of a lesser importance to the essential meaning of the play, this leading to contrasts that might not be recognized immediately, but need explanation in the matter of what those differences are and why they were made.

The very beginning of the movie itself is the first deviation from the original plot of the play. The location is the New Orleans central station and Blanche all of a sudden steps out of a steam-cloud evaporated by one of the trains on the track. Her entrance and appearance remind strongly of an angel, all in white descending from heaven. Yet she is far from being a heavenly creature as we learn in the progress of the story. Kazan tried to open up the movie with its main character and the famous words: "They told me to take a street-car named Desire, and then transfer to one called Cemeteries and ride six blocks and get off at – Elysian Fields" (Williams, Tennessee, Streetcar 15). This of course marks the development of Blanche DuBois throughout the production. The play instead uses an almost unspectacular entrance of Stanley as an opener, partly because of him throwing a package containing raw meat at Stella and with it the symbol of the brute force Stanley impersonates, partly because of the limited scenery a stage production offers.

In the following scenes the moviegoer can hardly ever see or hear any differences to the play. With little exception of the change of scenery, namely the bowling alley, which is only referred to in the play, plot and words stay unchanged to the original. As the important changes have been explained above there are only some minor cuts in words that need a closer look. Blanche telling the young man that she wants to kiss him, just once, softly and sweetly on the mouth, in scene five had to be cut out, because the demands of censorship wouldn’t allow such a direct expression of sexual desire. The same rule made another change unavoidable. Towards the end of the story, after Mitch has learned the truth about Blanche, he comes to the Kowalski apartment to see her. He talks about her being "straight" and she answers that "a line can be straight or a street. But the heart of a human being" (Williams, Tennessee, Streetcar 115)? This reference to the ambiguous meaning of the word straight, in sense of straight as a line (just as Blanches uses the expression) and on the other hand straight referring to the colloquial term as a substitute for being heterosexual, of course points again to her husband’s (in the movie denied) sexuality. Censors in the 50s denied the audience to deal with such play on words, although many Americans had already by the time the movie came out seen the play, which of course didn’t lose anything to the cutters.

4. Conclusion 

A Streetcar Named Desire is without a doubt on of the most staged plays in this century. Its influence on modern drama and movie is undeniably evident as it marked the beginning of successful careers of Tennessee Williams and Marlon Brando. Hollywood had a new direction; movies that followed Streetcar were seen in a different light in regard to censorship. Many other plays were turned into movies, fifteen of them also by Williams, many of them award winning blockbusters. Names like Cat On A Hot Tin Roof, Night of the Iguana and Camino Real featuring Paul Newman, Elizabeth Taylor, Richard Burton and Al Pacino, are just a few examples of incomparable performances. But Williams had a different view on his rising success, which did not only give him the financial independence and freedom he needed as an artist, but trapped him in the machinery of having to deliver one hit after another. He sometimes couldn’t stand the excitement people would make about his person. In an essay which appeared four days before the New York opening of A Streetcar Named Desire Williams ask what good it is, the success he has experienced. He answers himself with the words: "Perhaps to get an honest answer you will have to give him [the one who has also experienced the kind of success he has] a shot of truth-serum but the word he will finally groan is unprintable in genteel publications."
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8. After reading this site, concentrate on sections D:  Rape and Punishment, and E:  Smaller Moral Differences.  How much, if any, do you think that the censoring issues that were required by the time period changed the essential core of the play? 
9. Probably the most predominate theme in the play is that desire is the opposite of death; in other words, to be really alive we must yearn for something intensely, focusing a vast amount of our energy on it.  In the play, although Stanley certainly desires sex and Blanche desires security and being wanted, desire in real life can take many forms.  Submit, as the final step in this ladder, an informal essay were you describe one of your strongest desires, using examples from your life.  Be as specific as possible. Below is a student example:

When I think in terms of "desire" being the opposite of death, the list of desires I have is endless. When I think of something that I yearn for intensely, and focus a vast amount of my attention on, I would have to say my college education.   I have had numerous obstacles placed in my path to prevent me from achieving what I so desperately desire in life right now, and that is to earn a bachelor’s degree.  

When I was fresh from high school many, many moons ago, I was forced to be out on my own.  My parents – God bless them – felt that at 18, I needed to take care of myself.    So, after high school I needed to find a full time job; I did as a waitress.  School was placed on the back burner for me for obvious reasons.  Soon after graduating, I met a nice young boy and decided that we would play house together.   We were married and trying desperately to make ends meet (his construction job often left us short on cash in the winter months), leaving no room (or money) for college. The years passed and I found myself taking a class here and there to try and get a better paying job, but never had quite the satisfaction of having the degree that I always wanted.  Then along came baby number one.  Suddenly, as part of my desire to be a strong role model I decide that I could no longer put off my ambitions and I took action!  At 26, married, with one child, I enrolled into college part time. 


My desire to finish what I have started consumes my life.  I have since had a second baby, and was distracted from my goal for another year. My husband is reluctantly supportive, although hugely intimidated by the though of me being better educated than he.  This has caused a lot of friction in my life.  I have sacrificed many things to make this come true for me including, time, money, stress, family events, loss of income, and energy.  I’m crazy busy and stressed out, and don’t have a dime to show for it! This desire is my passion and worth every minute I have spent on it.  I will graduate after student teaching in the spring with a degree in Middle Childhood Education.  Look out world; here I come!

The End
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